

Leaching from municipal solid waste incineration residues

Hyks, Jiri

Publication date: 2008

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link back to DTU Orbit

Citation (APA): Hyks, J. (2008). *Leaching from municipal solid waste incineration residues*. Technical University of Denmark, DTU Environment.

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

• Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
- You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



Leaching from Municipal Solid Waste Incineration Residues

Jiří Hykš











Leaching from Municipal Solid Waste Incineration Residues

Jiří Hykš

Ph.D. Thesis February 2008

Technical University of Denmark Department of Environmental Engineering

Leaching from Municipal Solid Waste Incineration Residues

Cover: Torben Dolin & Julie Camilla Middleton Printed by: Vester Kopi Department of Environmental Engineering ISBN 978-87-91855-48-1

The thesis will be available as a pdf-file for downloading from the departments homepage on: www.env.dtu.dk

Department of Environmental Engineering Library Bygningstorvet, Building 115, Technical University of Denmark DK-2800 Kgs. Lyngby

Phone:

Direct: (+45) 45 25 16 10 (+45) 45 25 16 00 Fax: (+45) 45 93 28 50 E-mail: library@env.dtu.dk

Preface

This thesis is the result of a Ph.D. study carried out at DTU Environment (former E&R). The study was jointly funded by I/S Vestforbrænding, I/S Amagerforbrænding, Aarhus Kommunale Værker, and DONG Energy A/S. Professor Dr. Agro Thomas H. Christensen and Associate Professor Ph.D. Thomas Astrup acted as supervisors.

Journal manuscripts prepared during the course of the study are enclosed:

- I. Hyks, J.; Astrup, T. & Christensen, T.H. Influence of test conditions on solubility controlled leaching predictions from air-pollution-control residues. *Waste Management & Research 2007, 25 (5), p. 457-466.*
- II. Hu, Y.; Hyks, J.; Astrup, T. & Christensen, T.H. Effect of drying on leaching testing of treated municipal solid waste incineration APC-residues. Accepted in Waste Management & Research 2008.
- III. Hyks, J.; Astrup, T. & Christensen, T.H. Leaching from MSWI bottom ash: Effects of non-equilibrium during column experiments. *Submitted to Waste Management*.
- IV. **Hyks**, J.; Astrup, T. & Christensen, T.H. Long-term leaching from MSWI airpollution-control residues. *Submitted to Journal of Hazardous Materials*.

The above manuscripts are referred to in the thesis by their roman numerals. In addition to these, two publications in proceedings have been accomplished during the study but they are not enclosed:

- Hyks, J., Astrup, T. & Christensen, T.H. (2007): Prediction of leaching from air pollution control residues. In: Cossu, R., Diaz, L. F. & Stegmann, R. (eds.): *Sardinia 2007*, Eleventh International Waste Management and Landfill Symposium, 1-5 October, Sardinia, Italy. Proceedings. CD-ROM, CISA Environmental Sanitary Engineering Centre, Cagliari, Italy.
- Hyks, J., Astrup, T. & Christensen, T.H. (2006): Removal of readily soluble compounds prior to pH-static leaching experiments: effects on leaching predictions. In: Ilic, M.; Goumans, J.J.J.M.; Miletic, S.; Heynen, J.J.M. & Senden, G.J. (eds): *WASCON 2006*. Sixth International Conference on the Environmental and Technical Implications of Construction with Alternative Materials, May 30 June 2, 2006, Belgrade.

Acknowledgements

Thomas H. Christensen and Thomas Astrup are gratefully acknowledged for their support throughout the entire study and for their never-ending stream of ideas and improvements which were, sometimes, very challenging to manage. Further, I/S Vestforbrænding, I/S Amagerforbrænding, Aarhus Kommunale Værker, and DONG Energy A/S are acknowledged for providing financial support.

Hans van der Sloot, Rob Comans, Paul Seignette, Hans Meeussen, Joris Dijkstra, and Andre van Zomeren from ECN Netherlands are acknowledged for providing both access to ORCHESTRA/LeachXS tool and numerous consultations.

Yuyan Hu from Institute of Thermal and Environmental Engineering at Tongji University (P.R.China) is recognized for her huge help in laboratory. Torben Dolin and Julie Middleton from *Tegnestuen* are recognized for creating graphics for this thesis.

Special thanks to all members of the *Waste Mafia*: Thilde, Anna, Hanna, Christian, Anders, Alessio, Simone, Jacob, and Emmanuel for the nice environment they have produced during my stay at DTU Environment. Katerina is acknowledged for proof-reading this thesis. Also, all members of the cake-club are recognized for a constant supply of *chokoladekage*.

Last but certainly not least, big thanks to my family and my fiancée Iva for all the love and support I have got from them.

Jirka

Summary

Leaching of pollutants from Municipal Solid Waste Incineration (MSWI) residues has been investigated combining a range of laboratory leaching experiments with geochemical modeling. Special attention was paid to assessing the applicability of laboratory data for subsequent modeling with respect to presumed full-scale conditions; both sample pretreatment and actual influence of leaching conditions on the results of laboratory experiments were considered.

It was shown that sample pretreatment may have large impact on leaching test data. In particular, a significant fraction of Pb was shown mobile during the washing of residues with water. In addition, drying of residues (i.e. slow oxidation) prior to leaching experiments increased the leaching of Cr significantly.

Significant differences regarding the leaching behavior of individual elements with respect to (non)equilibrium conditions in column percolation experiments were observed in the study. As a result, three groups of elements were identified based on the predominant leaching control and the influence of (non)equilibrium on the results of the laboratory column experiments:

- I. Predominantly availability-controlled elements (e.g. Na, K, Cl)
- II. Solubility-controlled elements (e.g. Ca, S, Si, Al, Ba, and Zn)
- III. Complexation-controlled elements (e.g. Cu and Ni)

With respect to the above groups it was suggested that results of laboratory column experiments can, with consideration, be used to estimate full-scale leaching of elements from Group I and II. However, in order to avoid large underestimations in the assessment of leaching from Group III, it is imperative to describe the time-dependent transport of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) in the tested system or to minimize the physical non-equilibrium during laboratory experiments (e.g. bigger column, slower flow velocity).

Forward geochemical modeling was applied to simulate long-term release of elements from a MSWI air-pollution-control residue. Leaching of a range of elements was adequately predicted over a liquid-to-solid ratio of 250 L kg⁻¹ corresponding to more than 10,000 years in a typical landfill. Notably, based on the modeling it is suggested that removal of Ca and S due to dissolution of portlandite and gypsum could cause increased dissolution of mineral phases like ettringite. Dissolution of ettringite could cause a late increase in concentrations of elements that are substituting sulfate in the ettringite structure; e.g. Sb, As, V, and Cr. Note that such increase in leaching at high L/S ratios is obviously not covered by typical leaching tests and may therefore be underestimated.

Overall, only a minor fraction of many potential pollutants (e.g. heavy metals) present in MSWI residues have been shown leachable even during long-term

percolation experiments; typically, less than 1% of initially present As, Cr, Sb, Cu, Cd, and Pb has leached.

Dansk resumé

I dette studie er udvaskning af farlige stoffer fra restprodukter fra affaldsforbrænding blevet undersøgt ved at kombinere udvaskningstests i laboratoriet med geokemisk modellering. Der blev lagt særlig vægt på at undersøge anvendelsen af laboratoriedata i forhold til efterfølgende modellering af de forventede forhold for udvaskning i fuld skala. Både forbehandling af prøver og indflydelse fra betingelserne i udvaskningsforsøgene på resultaterne blev vurderet.

Det blev vist, at forhandling af prøverne kan have stor indflydelse på udvaskningsdata, idet en betragtelig del af især Pb viste sig at være mobilt når restprodukterne blev vasket med vand. Desuden medførte tørring af restprodukterne (dvs. langsom oxidering) før udvaskningsforsøgene en øget udvaskning af Cr.

Der blev påvist betydelige forskelle i udvaskningen af individuelle grundstoffer i kolonneudvaskningsforsøg som ikke var i fysisk ligevægt. Som en konsekvens blev tre grupper af grundstoffer identificeret på basis af deres fremherskende udvaskningskontrol og indflydelsen fra fysisk ikke-ligevægt på resultaterne fra udvaskningsforsøgene:

- I. Hovedsageligt tilgængelighedskontrollerede grundstoffer (f.eks. Na, K, Cl)
- II. Opløselighedskontrollere grundstoffer (f.eks. Ca, S, Si, Al, Ba og Zn)
- III. Grundstoffer kontrolleret ved kompleksering (f.eks. Cu and Ni)

Med udgangspunkt i de tre grupper blev det foreslået at resultater fra kolonneforsøg i laboratoriet med et vist forbehold kan anvendes til at estimere fuld-skala udvaskning af stoffer fra gruppe I og II. For at undgå en underestimering af udvaskning fra stoffer i gruppe III er det nødvendigt at beskrive den tidsafhængige transport af opløst organisk kulstof (DOC) i det undersøgte system eller minimere fysisk ikke-ligevægt under laboratorieforsøgene (f.eks. større kolonner, langsommere flowhastighed).

Prædiktiv geokemisk modellering af udvaskningen blev anvendt til at simulere langsigtet udvaskning af uorganiske stoffer fra røggasrensningsprodukter fra affaldsforbrænding. Udvaskning af en række grundstoffer blev bestemt for et væskefaststof forhold på 250 l/kg svarende til mere end 10.000 år udvaskning fra et typisk deponi. Det skal især bemærkes at fjernelse af Ca og S som følge af opløsning af f.eks. portlandit og gips kan forårsage en forsinket frigivelse af mineralfaser som ettringit. Omvendt kan en frigivelse af ettringit forårsage øgede koncentrationer af grundstoffer som substituerer sulfat i ettringits struktur, f.eks. Sb, As, V og Cr. Potentielt kan dette medføre en betragtelig stigning i udvaskningen ved meget høje væske-faststof forhold, hvilket normalt ikke dækkes af de typisk anvendte udvaskningstests.

Samlet set er det kun en meget lille del af forureningskomponenterne (f.eks tungmetaller) i restprodukterne der udvasker i løbet af de langvarende udvaskningsforsøg; typisk mindre end 1% af indholdet af As, Cr, Sb, Cu, Cd og Pb udvaskes.

Table of Contents

1	INTRO	DDUCTION1
2	MSWI	RESIDUES
2	2.1 Or	IGIN OF MSWI RESIDUES
	2.1.1	Bottom ash
	2.1.2	APC residues
2	2.2 Mn	NERALOGY OF MSWI RESIDUES
3	CHAR	ACTERIZATION OF LEACHING FROM MSWI RESIDUES 11
3	3.1 Int	TRODUCTION TO LEACHING CHARACTERIZATION
	3.1.1	Batch tests with continuous pH-control
	3.1.2	Column leaching experiments
	3.1.3	Batch tests without pH-control
	3.1.4	Geochemical modeling in general14
3	3.2 INF	LUENCE OF TEST CONDITIONS ON RESULTS OF LEACHING EXPERIMENTS 17
	3.2.1	Introduction
	3.2.2	Sample drying 17
	3.2.3	Sample pre-washing 18
	3.2.4	Kinetics during batch experiments on APC residues 19
	3.2.5	Kinetics during column percolation experiments on bottom ash 20
	3.2.6	Influence of non-equilibrium on leaching from bottom ash columns 21
3	3.3 LEA	ACHING FROM MSWI RESIDUES
	3.3.1	Characterization of leaching from the pH-static experiments
	3.3.2	Modeling of pH-dependent leaching from APC residues
	3.3.3	Possible application of generic set of minerals
	3.3.4	Long-term percolation experiments on APC residues
	3.3.5	Forward modeling of column leaching from APC residues
4	CONC	LUSIONS 17
5	FUTUI	RE WORK 19
6	BIBLI	OGRAPHY 21
7	APPEN	NDIXES

Appendices

- I. Hyks, J.; Astrup, T. & Christensen, T.H. Influence of test conditions on solubility controlled leaching predictions from air-pollution-control residues. *Waste Management & Research 25 (5), p. 457-466.*
- II. Hu, Y.; Hyks, J.; Astrup, T. & Christensen, T.H. Effect of drying on leaching testing of treated municipal solid waste incineration APC-residues. Accepted in Waste Management & Research, 2008
- III. Hyks, J.; Astrup, T. & Christensen, T.H. Leaching from MSWI bottom ash: Effects of non-equilibrium during column experiments. Submitted to Waste Management.
- IV. **Hyks**, J.; Astrup, T. & Christensen, T.H. Long-term leaching from MSWI airpollution-control residues. *Submitted to Journal of Hazardous Materials*.

The appendixes are not included in this www-version but may be obtained from the Library at the Department of Environmental Engineering, Bygningstorvet, Building 115, Technical University of Denmark, DK-2800 Kgs. Lyngby (library@env.dtu.dk)

1 Introduction

Municipal solid waste incineration (MSWI) with energy recovery is one of today's major technologies to deal with the increasing amount of municipal solid waste. Although the incineration itself is considered a hygienic way of treatment, the majority of incombustible elements is subsequently concentrated in a relatively small amount of incineration residues which need to be treated further. Two basic types of incineration residues are produced: bottom ashes (BA), and air-pollution-control (APC) residues [1]. In Denmark, about 600,000 tonnes of BA and 90,000 tonnes of APC residues are produced annually from approximately 3,000,0000 tonnes of incinerated municipal solid waste [2].

The main concern regarding future utilization of the residues is possible contamination of the environment due to the release of elements when in contact with water; i.e. leaching. Thus, quantification of leaching of particularly salts and metals prior to utilization and/or landfilling is required [3;4]. Leaching quantification can also be viewed as an important part of a life-cycle-impact-assessment (LCIA) of various waste management scenarios [5-9], since in order to properly assess impacts from these scenarios one must be aware of the emissions (e.g. leaching from BA used in road constructions and/or leaching from landfilled APC residues).

Apart from this environmentally-driven quantification, there may be a certain economical motivation in particular with respect to APC residues. As hazardous waste the APC residues are often landfilled on special landfills; such practice is indeed costly. If one can prove, based on robust experiments and/or modeling, that the leachate concentrations over time comply with legislation regulatory limits then the material categorization may be changed from "hazardous" to "non-hazardous" or even "inert". This would in turn have a significant impact on treatment and disposal costs.

It is necessary to point out that leaching needs to be quantified both in a short- and a long-term perspective. Short term could mean the life-time of a road or landfill (i.e. <100 years), while long-term could mean "forever" (i.e. centuries). Obviously, full-scale data describing long-term leaching from MSWI residues are unavailable. Hence, leaching is usually quantified using laboratory experiments. However, as the lab-scale experiments are by definition only a rough approximation of the full-scale processes that often take decades and centuries to complete, the leaching conditions during lab-scale experiments may not necessarily reflect those in full-scale scenarios (e.g. equilibrium). Thus, the observed concentration levels obtained from the lab-scale leaching scenario with the exact same materials. In other words, use of lab-scale data as input for geochemical modeling of full-scale scenarios cannot be recommended without a careful consideration, as inconsistencies between lab- and full-scale data may significantly affect the leaching predictions.

There are numerous factors that may influence the results of lab-scale experiments. The most important are believed to be: sample pretreatment (e.g. sample storage, sample drying, and sample crushing), kinetics of mineral dissolution/precipitation, equilibrium vs. non-equilibrium conditions during the leaching experiments, chemical retardation, and internal diffusion [10-14]. More specifically, removal of readily soluble salts by percolating water prior to any significant pH change likely occurs in full-scale scenarios [1;15;16], whereas it is not addressed in current batch leaching tests [17;18]. Consequently, rather different solution conditions may be obtained. Mineral dissolution/precipitation, largely depending on kinetics, has been shown the most important process with respect to pH development [11;19;20]. In turn, pH affects the sorption/desorption processes that control release of many metals [21;22]. And although non-equilibrium has been suggested in typical column experiments, these are still considered to provide an adequate input for equilibrium-assuming geochemical modeling of leaching of a number of elements [11;23]. The magnitude of nonequilibrium during the experiments is therefore usually not tested. Hence, the accuracy of the leaching data, which modeling is based on is not assessed, and thus the accuracy of the modeling itself is not assessed. Without such assessment, the implementation of geochemical modeling for risk assessment or environmental impact assessment purposes can not be completed.

As outlined above, long-term leaching data are often unavailable. Nevertheless, leaching of many elements is usually expected to decrease with time. This assumption is largely based on observations from relatively short-term leaching experiments with bottom ashes [16;23]. However, some potentially important processes (e.g. depletion of controlling mineral phase) may well be overlooked in these observations. In other words, the leaching behavior of only a minor fraction of the total pollution potential has been described by current research. Such limited knowledge is insufficient for evaluation of the long-term environmental consequences of utilizing or landfilling these residues. This being said the aim of this thesis is to:

- *i)* Investigate the influence of sample handling on the results of laboratory leaching experiments
- *ii)* Evaluate the effects of non-equilibrium conditions on the results of laboratory percolation experiments
- *iii)* Describe long-term leaching behavior of various MSWI residues by means of laboratory experiments and geochemical modeling.

These points were discussed with respect to the air-pollution-control (APC) residues and/or the bottom ashes (BA). In total, two different APC residues were used: a "pure"

fly-ash (FA-residue) and a semi-dry APC residue (SD-residue). Also, BA from five different Danish incinerators were used. In spite of certain differences in chemical composition, all residues were treated similarly in this study as it was assumed that the basic geochemical principles apply to both APC residues and bottom ashes. If necessary, it is explicitly stated when to distinguish between the two types of residues.

2 MSWI residues

2.1 Origin of MSWI residues

Despite the significant reduction in mass and volume of the incinerated waste, several streams of incineration residues are generated partly from the combustion part of the process and partly from the subsequent cleaning of flue gas. The first part includes bottom ash and grate siftings which are usually collected together as "bottom ash" as outlined in Figure 1. The second part includes for instance boiler ash, heat-recovery (economizer) ash, ash collected in an electrostatic precipitator, scrubber residues, etc. [1]. Although generated separately, in reality these separate streams are often mixed depending on further treatment options and/or current legislation. This mixture is often referred to as air-pollution-control (APC) residues. As mentioned in Introduction, for the needs of this thesis "APC residues" refers to both "pure" fly-ash and actual APC residues (i.e. a mixture of fly-ash, unreacted lime, and acid-gas neutralization products) unless noted otherwise.

Typically, about 20-30 % of the initial mass of incinerated waste is converted into bottom ash. Air-pollution-control residues represent about 2-6 % of the initial mass of incinerated waste [1].



Figure 1. Sketch of an incinerator (mass-burning; semi-dry APC system): (1-3) moving grate, (4) boiler, (5) superheater, (6) heat exchanger, (7) semi-dry reactor, (8) baghouse filter, (9) urea (NO_x control), (10) lime, (11) activated carbon; source: Chang and Wey [24].

2.1.1 Bottom ash

Bottom ash (BA) could be described as a slag-like residue collected from the combustion chamber. As a result of quite similar operational conditions bottom ashes generated in different incinerators (assuming mass combustion) are rather uniform in composition [1;25]. For illustration, composition of 5 different Danish BA is given in Table 1. Lower amount of potential pollutants and rather satisfactory mechanical properties make even untreated BA usable as road-construction material [15]. In addition, weathering of bottom ashes mostly through carbonation (i.e. taking up atmospheric CO₂ thereby changing mineralogy from hydroxides to carbonates) acts as a naturally occurring stabilization process for many metals due to the fact that their carbonates have significantly lower solubility compared with the hydroxides [19;20;26]. Consequently, release of pollutants from weathered BA is generally not considered a major problem and a large fraction of the generated BA [2].

2.1.2 APC residues

APC residues can be described as fine dust-like particles that are carried away from the combustion chamber with the flue-gas. Contrary to mass-combustion technology the flue-gas-cleaning technology is rather plant-specific mostly reflecting legislative requirements and the period of its installation. Consequently, APC residues produced in different incinerators vary in composition, water content, pH, etc. A typical example of such differences is given in Table 1 for two untreated materials collected at different Danish MSWI plants. The so-called "semi-dry residues" is a mixture of the fly ash, unreacted lime and products from acid-gas neutralization; it was collected in baghouse filters. The other material is "pure" fly-ash collected in an electrostatic precipitator. Typically, the mass of pollutants is lower in a semi-dry mixture than in "pure" fly ash due to the dilution with unreacted lime and the neutralization products [1;15;27]. Nevertheless, both materials contain large quantities of readily soluble salts (compare Cl in BA and APC residues) and metals (e.g. Pb, Sb, As) which make them potentially hazardous [28]. Consequently, APC residues should only be landfilled or stored underground after pretreatment [29].

Element	unit	Bottom ash ^a	Semi-dry residues (SD) ^b	Fly ash (FA) ^b
Dry matter	%	84.9 - 97.9	95.3	98.8
Ca	g/kg	96.5 - 108	331	181
S	g/kg	3.5 - 5.6	35	57
Al	g/kg	39.1 - 65.6	18.3	35.7
Si	g/kg	198 - 248	63	90
Na	g/kg	23.2 - 29.4	16	42.3
Κ	g/kg	8.8 - 11.6	17.1	50
Cl	g/kg	3.0 - 9.0	173	122
Mg	g/kg	10.0 - 13.1	7.8	14.1
Fe	g/kg	79.9 - 100	9.7	13.8
As	mg/kg	25.0 - 45.2	80	380
Ba	mg/kg	1360 - 1750	620	1120
Cd	mg/kg	2.6 - 3.7	100	240
Co	mg/kg	20.4 - 26.2	8.9	20.9
Cr	mg/kg	434 - 914	200	700
Cu	mg/kg	2060 - 14300	500	1170
Mo	mg/kg	7.62 - 20.1	9	28
Ni	mg/kg	242 - 526	37.5	67.4
Pb	mg/kg	1080 - 3530	2100	6800
Sr	mg/kg	311 - 634	500	400
V	mg/kg	40.7 - 59.3	19.8	39.7
Zn	mg/kg	2660 - 4230	9100	31700
Sb	mg/kg	51.4 - 105	340	1170
Р	mg/kg	3779 - 5237	3400	10000
TOC	g/kg	14.0 - 19.0	2.7	0.7

Table 1. Elemental composition of bottom ashes, semi-dry APC residues, and "pure" fly ash determined by inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectrometry (ICP-AES) after microwave assisted digestion with HCl/HF/HNO₃.

^{*a*} Concentration range obtained from 5 bottom ashes collected from 5 different MSWI plants in Denmark

^b Hyks et al [**IV**]

2.2 Mineralogy of MSWI residues

Generally, untreated bottom ash is a remarkably heterogeneous material, the majority of which comprises of calcium-rich minerals and silicates potentially enriched in iron and sodium [30-33]. Numerous studies concluded that a significant fraction of bottom ash consists of melt products such as glass, spinel-group minerals (e.g. magnetite: Fe₃O₄), and melitite-group minerals (e.g. gehlenite: $Ca_2Al_2SiO_7$ and akermanite: Ca₂(Mg,Fe)Si₂O₇). In contrast, concentrations of potential pollutants (e.g. heavy metals) are fairly low (Table 1) and it is therefore difficult to identify their mineral phases experimentally by means of for ex. XRD (X-Ray Diffraction) and AES (Auger Electron Spectroscopy), as they are "masked" by the large amounts of major elements (e.g. Ca, Si, Al, and S). Nevertheless, simple metal oxides such as ZnO were both suggested and identified [24;30;31;34]. For illustration, an overview of minerals commonly identified in bottom ash is given in Table 2.

As for the APC residues, their complex mineralogy can be attributed to processes occurring during the combustion and the subsequent flue-gas cleaning, i.e. vaporization, melting, crystallization, vitrification, condensation and precipitation [34]. Consequently, sulfates, carbonates, silicates, phosphates, chlorides, (hydr)oxides, pure metals, and glass were identified in untreated APC residues as outlined in Table 2. Similarly to bottom ash, precise identification of minor compounds is complicated. Metals are likely to be incorporated in both aluminosilicates, present as simple oxides and even in metallic form (e.g. Al and Zn) [13;34]. It can thus be assumed that by dissolving large amounts of soluble salts (e.g. chlorides) metals forming chloro-complexes (e.g. Cd) will be liberated [35]. On the other hand, pollutants captured in glassy phase can be expected to be relatively unleachable as it requires large decrease in pH in order to dissolve glassy phases.

Bottom ash		APC residues (including fly ashes)		
CaSO ₄ ^a	$CaSO_4^{a}$ $Ca_2Al_2SiO_7^{a,d}$		PbSO ₄ ^{b, c}	
CaSO ₄ ·2H ₂ O ^{a-d}	aSO_4 ·2H ₂ O ^{a-d} Ca ₂ (Mg,Fe)Si ₂ O ₇ ^d		PbO ^{c, d}	
CaCO ₃ ^{a, c, d, e, f}	$Ca_6Al_2O_6(SO_3)_3$ ·32H ₂ O ^a	$CaSO_4$ ·2 $H_2O^{a-c, f}$	CaCl ₂ ^c	
Ca ₂ SiO ₃ Cl ₂ ^a	Ca ₆ Al ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ (OH) ₁₂ ·26H ₂ O ^{a, c}	CaCO ₃ ^{a - f, i, j}	CaF_2 ^c	
SiO ₂ ^{a-e, f}	(Na,Ca)(Fe,Mn)(Si,Al) ₂ O ₆ ^a	CaAl ₂ Si ₂ O ₈ ^c	CdCO ₃ ^{c, h}	
$\mathrm{Fe_3O_4}^{\mathrm{a, c, d}}$	Ca(Mg,Al)(Si,Al) ₂ O ₆ ^{a, d}	Ca ₂ SiO ₄ ^d	CaSiO ₃ ^{c, d}	
$Fe_2O_3^{c, d}$	(K,Ca,Na)(Al,Si) ₄ O ₈ ^{a, d}	Ca ₂ Al ₂ SiO ₇ ^{f, j}	Fe(OH) ₃ ^c	
FeCO ₃ ^a	Al ₂ O ₃ ^d	NaCl ^{a-f, i, j}	$Fe(0)^{d}$	
FeSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O ^a	Na ₂ O ^d	KCl ^{a, d, e, f, i, j}	ZnCl ₂ ^{c, d}	
FeCr ₂ O ₄ ^{b, c}	CaO ^{d, e, f}	$Fe_2O_3^{a, b, d, f, j}$	ZnCO ₃ ^{c, h}	
Ca ₅ (PO ₄) ₃ Cl ^b	FeO ^d	SiO ₂ ^{a-e, i, j}	ZnO ^g	
ZnO ^{b,d}	NaCl ^e	TiO ₂ ^{a, d, f}	$Zn(0)^{d}$	
CaMoO ₄ ^c		PbCl ₂ ^{b, c, d}	$Al(0)^{d}$	
NaAsO ₂ ^c		PbCO ₃ ^{b, c}	CuO ^g	
		Al ₂ O ₃ ⁱ	Na ₂ O ^{i,j}	
		Ca ₂ (Mg,Al)(Si,Al) ₂ O ₇ ^d		
		Ca ₆ Al ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ (OH) ₁₂ ·26H ₂ O ^{d, f}		
Sources:		Sources:		
^a Freyssinet et al _l	[31]	^a Kirby and Rimstidt [37]		
^b Krzanowski et al	l [32]	^b Kirby and Rimstidt [38]		
^c Zevenbergen et d	al [33]	^c Eighmy et al [39]		
^d Eusden et al [30]]	^d Le Forestier and Libourel [40]		
^e Chang and Wey	[24]	^e Li et al [41]		
^f Saikia et al [34]		^f Fermo et al [42]		
		^g Fermo et al [43]		
		^h Van Herck et al [44]		
		ⁱ Chang and Wey [24]		
		^j Saikia et al [34]		

Table 2. Overview of mineral phases experimentally detected in untreated MSWIresidues. Adapted from Astrup [36].

3 Characterization of leaching from MSWI residues

3.1 Introduction to leaching characterization

Leaching can be described as "dissolution of solid material when in contact with water" [1]. Although this may indeed sound primitive that is hardly the truth. In fact, leaching should be perceived as a multi-dimensional process. Particle morphology, kinetics, chemical speciation, influence of pH, inorganic/organic complexation, influence of time, and the leaching-available fraction are the major parameters that must be described in order to accomplish our ultimate goal; i.e. a time-dependent leaching description.

In order to do so, a great amount of preferably full-scale data is required. However, as outlined in Introduction, there are many full-scale scenarios for which the leaching data are either scarce or not available at all. Laboratory leaching experiments are then a valuable tool for obtaining such information. Yet again, due to overall complexity of the leaching process, it is generally presumed that a single leaching test can not provide an adequate description since various combinations of the major controlling processes occur (see BOX 2) and the overall leaching control for a given element can vary in time [23;45;46]. Consequently, several types of leaching tests may be combined to obtain desired information. It is very important though to realize what type of leaching scenario is considered. For instance, there is a significant difference in leaching when comparing (i) a percolation through granular material with (ii) a flow-around type of percolation observed for monolithic materials. Hence, the type of leaching test should fit closely to the scenario it describes. With respect to leaching from granular materials three types of leaching experiments were used in this thesis for leaching characterization: batch experiments with continuous pH control (i.e. pH-static test) [17], up-flow percolation experiments (i.e. column test) [47], and batch experiments without pH-control [18]. For more detailed description of experimental set-ups refer to BOX 1.

An important parameter should be explained here with respect to all leaching tests, i.e. a liquid-to-solid (L/S) ratio. L/S ratio can be defined as a volume of liquid [L] in contact with a dry mass of solid material [kg]. Hence, multiplying the measured solution concentrations [mg L⁻¹] with the L/S ratio of a given test [L kg⁻¹] allows one to express the results of different leaching test as "released mass" [mg kg⁻¹]. Consequently, leaching data for different materials can be subsequently compared. In addition, assuming knowledge of the infiltration rate (e.g. precipitation), any given L/S ratio may ideally be recalculated to leaching time [48].

BOX 1. Leaching characterization; description of leaching experiments as used in this thesis.

Batch leaching test with continuous pH-control, i.e. "pH-static test" [17]. One-stage batch experiment performed on granular material with particle grain size < 4 mm; material may be subject to drying prior to experiments. Solid material is mixed with distilled water at a liquid-to-solid (L/S) ratio of 10 L kg⁻¹; open-air containers are used. In our set-up, 8 separate batches are operated simultaneously for each tested material. Computer-guided titration system ensures continuous pH control over 48 hours; pH range is maintained between pH ~ 4 and "natural" pH of tested material (often pH > 12). Solution samples are taken at the end of the leaching period.

Up-flow percolation test, i.e. "column test" [47]. Percolation experiment performed on granular material without size-reduction (see CEN procedure for details). Material is packed in a column and percolated with distilled water in an up-flow direction. Two types of columns are used depending on particle size of sample; columns with inner diameter of 50 mm are used for APC residues whereas columns with inner diameter of 100 mm are used for bottom ashes. In either case, length of the column is 300 mm. The flow velocity in the APC column is kept between 10-12 mL h⁻¹ while the BA columns are operated at 40-50 mL h⁻¹. Solution samples are taken continuously at pre-defined L/S ratios.

Batch leaching test without pH control [*18*]. One-stage batch test performed on granular material with particle grain size < 4 mm; material may be subject to both crushing and drying prior to the leaching test. Solid material is mixed with distilled water at L/S 2 L kg⁻¹ in PTFE bottles equipped with PTFE caps. Bottles with suspensions are then placed in an "end-over-end" rotation device at approximately 5-10 rotations-per-minute for a period of 24 hours. No pH control is applied in this batch test; in addition, headspace is avoided in order to minimize changes in redox potential. Solution samples are taken at the end of the leaching period.

3.1.1 Batch tests with continuous pH-control

Generally, batch tests with continuous pH-control (so-called "pH-static test") can be seen as a material characterization tool since most of the leaching processes depend strongly on pH. Testing the same material at well-defined conditions where only pH is changing allows us to identify the predominant leaching processes at a different stage of leaching (pH value of leached material is expected to change in time). During the last two decades countless studies were performed on different MSWI residues. As a result, three major leaching behaviors were identified and elements were subsequently organized in three groups commonly referred to as: availability-controlled elements, solubility-controlled elements, and elements predominantly controlled by a sorption to active surfaces and/or complexation with dissolved organic carbon [19;26;39;49-53]. More detailed description of the above "leaching-control" is given in Box 2.

BOX 2. An overview of predominant "leaching-control" usually suggested for MSWI residues [1;11;15;19-21;27;39;52;54-60].

Availability-controlled elements. Their leaching is not limited by the solubility of the source mineral as this is very high (e.g. Cl and NaCl). In other words, they dissolve readily and thus the availability of the source mineral is the limiting factor. Accordingly, only minor differences in solution concentrations are observed at different pH values. In column tests their leaching is characterized by fairly high initial solution concentrations (i.e. tens to hundreds of grams per liter) followed by rather fast decrease as depletion occurs.

Solubility-controlled elements. Their leaching is limited by mineral solubility (e.g. Ca with respect to CaSO₄). Consequently, in pH-static test both no and large differences may be observed across the pH range. The first happens in case of a single controlling mineral whose solubility is not affected by changes in pH, e.g. gypsum. The latter can be seen in case of many metals which often show so-called amphoteric behavior also referred to as "V-shape leaching" (i.e. high leaching at both high and low pH levels with a minimum at neutral pH). This is caused by the fact that (i) there are different controlling minerals across the pH range or (ii) solubility of the controlling mineral varies with pH (e.g. ZnO). Consequently, leaching of the solubility-controlled elements in column tests is, contrary to the availability-controlled elements, characterized by rather stable solution concentrations over long periods of time, since pH is not changing. Depletion of one controlling mineral and its substitution by other may lead to changes in solution concentrations. Although mineral depletion has been suggested by geochemical modeling, it has yet to be observed in column leaching experiments.

Sorption/complexation-controlled elements. This type of leaching control is typical for many metals (e.g. Cd, Cu, and Pb). Generally, at high pH levels observed in leachates from MSWI residues, metal cations tend to sorb to negatively charged reactive surfaces such as hydrous ferric (hydr)oxides (HFO) and hydrous aluminum (hydr)oxides (AlO); hence, solution concentrations of these metals decrease with the abundance of the reactive surfaces. As for the complexation, the affinity of metals for complexation with the dissolved organic matter (DOC) is well known and leaching of metals has been shown to vary proportionally to amount of DOC. Nevertheless, DOC complexation and sorption to HFO/AlO may not be the only processes controlling the leaching of metals. It was shown that significant amounts of many metals may be immobilized during the formation of hydrated cement phases such as ettringite (3CaO·Al₂O₃·3CaSO₄·32H₂O) and thus become rather solubility-controlled.

3.1.2 Column leaching experiments

Basically, column experiments are designed to provide missing information of leaching as a function of L/S ratio. This way the "leaching history" is considered. The leaching history can be seen as (i) removal of compounds prior to decrease of pH and/or (ii) a decrement in an "available-fraction" caused by percolation. The available fraction can in turn be defined as a fraction of total content of a given element which would dissolve under drastic leaching conditions (see BOX 3 and references therein for details).

Still, there are several issues to be addressed. Firstly, percolation experiments are, by definition, very sensitive with respect to kinetics. Obviously, the percolation in laboratory experiments is much faster than in a full-scale scenario. Therefore, one should be aware of the results obtained in laboratory experiments when these are used to set-up a full-scale model. The influence of various conditions on the results of column tests is discussed in detail in Chapter 3.2. Secondly, long-term percolation data are scarce. In common laboratory percolation experiments, L/S 10 L kg⁻¹ is usually the endpoint. Such low-L/S-ratio-data are not suited for long-term leaching predictions because only a small fraction of even major elements leach within L/S 10 L kg⁻¹. Thus, potentially important processes (e.g. depletion of the controlling mineral phase) may be overlooked. In other words, only a minor fraction of the total pollution potential from particularly APC residues is described by current research. This limited knowledge is insufficient for setting up and validating leaching prediction models for evaluating the long-term environmental consequences of utilizing or landfilling APC residues.

3.1.3 Batch tests without pH-control

Batch leaching experiments without continuous pH-control are mostly used as a compliance test. More specifically, batch tests at L/S 2 L kg⁻¹ are currently used for material classification prior to landfilling [3;4;18]. The result of L/S 2 L kg⁻¹ test is one value (for each element) which presumably reflects the worst-case-scenario cumulative leaching during the initial stage of a full-scale scenario; i.e. at the natural pH of the material. Yet, with respect to long-term leaching it is important to realize the differences between batch and percolation experiments and hence the results of batch experiments should not be used uncritically.

3.1.4 Geochemical modeling in general

Until recently, geochemical modeling has primarily been used to explain various leaching mechanisms outlined in BOX 2 [11;12;20;26;51;61-63]. The geochemical modeling could be done in a sequence of calculation steps similar to those described in BOX 3. Various geochemical models may handle certain specific calculations differently; however, both herein used PHREEQC [64] and particularly ORCHESTRA [65] incorporated in the LeachXS tool [66] were used as described in BOX 3.

At first, the solution speciation is calculated resulting in a list of minerals (also referred to as the "controlling minerals") close to equilibrium with observed solution concentrations. Often, the list is rather comprehensive and therefore comparison with mineralogical studies (see Table 2) is recommendable. Next, solution concentrations of selected elements are calculated assuming equilibrium with the controlling minerals; this way the observed and predicted concentrations can be compared [61]. To further improve the model predictions, both sorption on active surfaces and complexation with DOC should be included. Applying this approach on pH-static leaching data generally results in fair agreements between model-predicted and experimentally-determined concentrations of many elements [12;55;67].

Based on the results from the modeling of pH-static experiments some authors suggest [23;66;68], that a combination of pH-static leaching data and column leaching data for the same material may provide an adequate set of input parameters for forward geochemical modeling of leaching from granular materials. It should be stressed however, that a direct application of the results generated from batch pH-static tests for long-term leaching predictions seems somewhat more problematic. Arguably, the only batch experiment that may provide some description of the real-life leaching is the batch test performed at "natural" pH (i.e. without pH control) of the solid material. In any other batch test (herein done at pH 4; 5.5; 7; 8, 9, 10, and 11) the leaching history is not considered since a fresh portion of untreated material is used for each batch. Hence, conditions which do not exist in full-scale leaching scenarios (e.g. high levels of soluble salts at low pH levels) occur during the pH-static test. Soluble salts are highly unlikely to be present at low pH values as these salts would be dissolved ages before the pH change [15;16;27].

As for the percolation modeling, a short-term leaching quantification (< L/S 2 $L \text{ kg}^{-1}$) can presumably be done using full-scale data. Long-term leaching quantifications (ultimately centuries) on the other hand rely largely on forward geochemical modeling as the full-scale leaching data are obviously unavailable. Currently, the percolation experiments are used to provide both input data and model validation. Considering the above-mentioned differences between lab- and full-scale conditions it appears questionable in particular for column experiments that simple scaling-up could provide adequate description of full-scale scenarios. It is therefore necessary to understand/assess possible impacts on results of leaching experiments caused by different conditions between lab- and full-scale scenarios; this should ideally be done prior to any leaching predictions.

BOX 3. Overview of calculation steps used in geochemical modeling of pH-dependent leaching from MSWI residues. For further details refer to following studies and references therein [12;19;20;23;27;27;44;55;61].

1st step: speciation calculations. Calculating solution speciation is the first step in the geochemical modeling. Usually, analytical data from the pH-static experiments is used as it arguably provides the best characterization-like information. Speciation of a given sample is then calculated using the analytically determined concentrations of elements as concentrations in solution while pH is kept at measured value and oxidation conditions are usually assumed. Abundance of different species is then obtained together with saturation indices (SI) of minerals which may form from those species.

 2^{nd} step: solubility-controlling minerals. It is assumed that dissolution/precipitation of minerals which are close to the equilibrium with analyzed solutions (i.e. for which -1 < SI < +1) controls the solution concentrations of many elements. Hence, those minerals are often referred to as the "solubility-controlling minerals". In the 2^{nd} step the potential controlling minerals are selected from a list of minerals generated during the speciation calculations. Finally, the leachate composition in equilibrium with the selected minerals (i.e. the "solubility curves") is calculated using so-called "semi-empirical" approach [61]. This way, model predictions could be compared with the measured data.

3rd step: prediction of pH-dependent leaching. "Available" fractions of all elements are entered in the model [12;23]. There is only one value (in mol kg⁻¹) for each element in the input file. For example, amount of "available" Ca in mol kg⁻¹ is distributed between Ca-containing controlling minerals generated in the 2nd step. Such distribution is performed for all considered elements. So far, there is no general approach for the quantification of the "available" fraction. For major ions (e.g. Ca²⁺, Al²⁺, SO₄²⁻, etc.) and metals that do not form oxyanions (e.g. Pb^{2+} , Cd^{2+} , Zn^{2+} , etc), it is implicitly assumed [23] that their concentrations observed in leachates at low pH (usually $pH \sim 4$) reflect their "available" fraction because majority of the solubility controlling minerals will be dissolved and sorption to HFO/AlO can be excluded. Analogically, for elements that form oxyanions (e.g. AsO_4^{3-} , CrO_4^{2-} , MoO_4^{2-} , etc) the values obtained at pH ~ 10 are expected to reflect the "available" fraction [23]. In addition, material-specific amounts of DOC and HFO/AlO surfaces are entered as an input parameter as well. Hence, the input data are: the "available" amounts of elements, a list of controlling minerals (i.e. 1st and 2nd step), information about DOC levels, and the amounts of reactive surfaces determined by independent extractions. The model then distributes the "available" amount of a given element between the major controlling processes (i.e. solubility control, DOC complexation, and HFO/AlO sorption) at different pH (2 < pH< 14 by default). All calculations are performed simultaneously to ensure competition.

3.2 Influence of test conditions on results of leaching experiments

3.2.1 Introduction

As outlined in previous chapter it is extremely important to be aware of the factors that may influence outcomes from leaching experiments and address these properly with respect to further full-scale application. For instance, dry materials are usually used for compliance tests (e.g. evaluating of leaching from treated APC residues); however, this does not reflect the full-scale conditions as wet residues are usually landfilled. Such a relatively insignificant difference can have a major impact on the leaching of some elements as discussed in Section 3.2.2. Another example could be the presence of nonequilibrium during pH-static- and/or more importantly column leaching experiments. The dissolution/precipitation kinetics of many minerals is very slow and hence the eluent-solid phase equilibrium may presumably not be reached for some elements during the laboratory experiments. It should be stressed that kinetics-related issues are likely going to be more pronounced in column experiments than in batch leaching test. Batch experiments obviously provide longer equilibration period together with larger contact between solid phase and eluent. In percolation experiments, eluent retention time is shorter; moreover, preferential flows, diffusion resistance of the solid material, and presence of stagnant zones affect the kinetics and thus an impact on observed leaching data may be expected [10;16;23;69].

As mentioned in Section 3.1.2 the purpose of column experiments is to provide an insight to time-dependent leaching preferably as close to full-scale scenarios as possible. Hence, assuming that there is enough time to reach equilibrium for most processes in slowly percolated full-scale scenarios, rather different solution composition may be obtained in much faster laboratory experiments. This would in turn affect sample speciation and hence different solubility controlling minerals would be predicted. Solubility control is important for pH development which is further affecting the sorption/desorption processes.

In this chapter, (i) the influence of sample pretreatment (i.e. drying, washing) and (ii) the influence of kinetics (i.e. equilibration period) on leaching from granular materials are discussed for both batch and column experiments. Furthermore, the impact of different leaching conditions on the results of geochemical modeling is discussed.

3.2.2 Sample drying

An Al(0)-Cr-O₂ interaction has been reported to affect the batch-determined leaching of Cr from APC residues [13;14]. Oxygen from the excessive headspace can supposedly oxidize the originally present Al^0 thereby decreasing its potential with respect to reduction of Cr^{VI} to Cr^{III}. In addition, Hu et al [**II**] conducted a series of batch and column experiments performed on treated APC residues in a dried/non-dried parallel in

order to investigate effect of slow sample drying (i.e. slow oxidation) on leaching of Cd, Cr, Cu, Pb, and Zn (Table 3).

A comprehensive overview of different experimental set-ups is given elsewhere [II]. It could be seen that drying was found particularly important with respect to leaching of Cr; drying (i.e. slow oxidation) apparently reduced the reduction capacity present in APC residues (most likely Al⁰). Consequently, 10-100 times higher Cr concentrations were observed in leachates from both batches and columns. Moreover, the leaching of Cd was likely affected by inorganic complexation as there was a significantly higher release of chloride caused by drying. Finally, drying was also shown to influence the pH of the residues and this could have had an impact on leaching.

	ъU	Cd	Cr	Cu	Pb	Zn
	рп	$(\mu g \ kg^{-1})$	$(mg kg^{-1})$			
Untreated ash	12.47	15	1185	695	354000	6
AE-D ^{a}	9.29	9	1235	13	< 50	0.20
AE-ND	11.44	< 1	< 20	< 10	< 50	< 0.20
ANAE-D	9.13	6	1355	22	< 50	0.21
ANAE-ND	11.47	1	< 20	< 10	< 50	< 0.20
AN-D	9.69	21	1140	36	< 50	0.26
AN-ND	10.96	2	< 20	< 10	96	< 0.20

Table 3. pH and heavy metal release determined by batch leaching test ($L/S \ 10 \ L \ kg^{-1}$). Source: [**II**].

^{*a*} Reader should be notified that the "-D" suffix in Table 3 refers to dried residues. Analogically, "-ND" refers to non-dried residues.

3.2.3 Sample pre-washing

A common method to determine the influence of pH on the release of constituents from a solid waste material is a batch pH-static leaching test. However, the test conditions may not necessarily provide an adequate description of full-scale scenarios as the residues are subjected to these tests without consideration of whether the test conditions mimic real-life conditions appropriately. Specifically, the removal of readily soluble salts by percolating water prior to any significant pH change [15] may induce a substantial difference between test and full-scale conditions. Hence, the effect of sample washing on the results of pH-static experiments and the subsequent predictions of solubility controlling minerals was investigated [I]; experiments were done on semi-dry APC residue (SD residue). It was shown that pre-washing of residues and the associated removal of soluble salts (Figure 2; right) has only a minor impact on model predictions of solubility controlling minerals. However, it was also shown that up to 57 % of the originally present Pb was removed by water-washing at natural pH of the APC residues. Moreover, similar amounts of Pb were shown to be removed at all other pH levels. Inorganic complexation with OH⁻ and Cl⁻ could be significant at high and low pH, respectively. In addition, high mobility of Pb could occur due to organic complexation; a large fraction of DOC was removed by the washing procedure (Figure 2; left).

Still, from a long-term point of view, solution concentrations of Pb as observed in pH-static test were likely overestimated with respect to the real-life scenarios simply because they included the "mobile fraction" of Pb. This fraction would have been dissolved at the initial stage of leaching and at natural pH of the material. In turn, including this fraction in our long-term leaching predictions would result in an overestimation of the late release of Pb. The only exception, of course, is the batch test performed at natural pH.



Figure 2. Concentrations of dissolved organic matter (DOC) and Cl as a function of pH. Solid spheres represent untreated residues (SD residue), while both open spheres and open diamonds represent data for washed residue samples. Source: [I].

3.2.4 Kinetics during batch experiments on APC residues

Batch experiments as described in Box 1 are usually considered to provide an adequate leaching description since 24-48 hours equilibration period has been shown sufficiently long for most elements [12]. And yet, dissolution/precipitation of some solubility controlling minerals is known to be extremely slow (e.g., formation of Ba-Sr-SO₄ solid solution) [70]. Accordingly, it was shown [I] that longer equilibration time (i.e. 172 hours) during a pH-static leaching test had a positive impact on model predictions of solubility control minerals particularly in the case of Ba and Sr (Figure 3). It should nevertheless be realized that the benefits from using an equilibration period longer than 48 hours are small when compared with the saved time and resources.

Overall, the kinetics-related issues were shown to be of minor importance in batch experiments although longer leaching period was shown to provide more accurate fit between modeled and observed concentrations.



Figure 3. Concentrations of Ba and Sr (mol L^{-1}) as a function of pH. Open spheres and diamonds represent experimental data from 48-h and 172-h leaching experiments, respectively. Solid lines are model predictions for 48-h experiments while dashed lines refer to 172-h experiments. Abbreviations are: (Ba,Sr)SO₄: Ba_{0.5}Sr_{0.5}SO₄ solid solution, Wit: witherite (BaCO₃), Str: strontianite (SrCO₃). Source: [**I**].

3.2.5 Kinetics during column percolation experiments on bottom ash

Not surprisingly, kinetics-related issues were found much more pronounced in column experiments. In **[III]** impacts of non-equilibrium on the results of the percolation experiments were evaluated. Three-parallel column experiments were performed on MSWI bottom ash. Two columns (C1 and C2) were operated according to the CEN standard [47]. In addition, two sets of so-called dynamic flow interruptions [69;71] were performed in the third column (C3) in order to assess possible non-equilibrium. Flow interruptions were employed at L/S 2 and L/S 12 L kg⁻¹, respectively. These L/S ratios were chosen deliberately as L/S 2 L kg⁻¹ is usually assumed to be reached in a conventional landfill after 100 years [48]; 100 years is also often considered as an endpoint in the life-cycle-impact-analyses [5]. L/S 12 L kg⁻¹ is beyond the scope of the standardized column test (i.e. L/S 10 L kg⁻¹). However, such L/S ratio may be reached in many thin-layer scenarios (e.g. road constructions).

Generally, during the flow interruption the eluent flow in column was stopped and the whole system was kept undisturbed allowing equilibrium between the solid and liquid phase to be established. After 7 days, eluent inflow was slowly initiated while a sample of eluate was taken from the column outlet. Special attention was paid to remove only about ¹/₄ of the total pore volume. Then the flow was stopped again and the whole procedure was repeated. In total, four samples were taken during one month of continuous flow interruption. Assuming initial non-equilibrium, solution concentrations of most elements were expected to change as the initially misbalanced system was approaching "near" equilibrium. Moreover, concentration trends were observed and hence the possible equilibrium could be confirmed.

Using flow interruptions (FI) allowed us to identify a clear physical non-equilibrium during the standardized column percolation experiments. It can be seen (Figure 4; left)

that in the case of C3 solution concentrations of chloride (Cl) increased significantly while the flow was stopped; i.e. at both L/S 2 and L/S 12 L kg⁻¹. Leaching of Cl was monitored deliberately since Cl is considered a "conservative" element [72], and may therefore be used to map transport conditions in the columns. Further, Cl behaves as an availability-controlled element, i.e. its leaching is not limited by solubility constraints as its solution concentrations in bottom ash leachates are usually well below saturation with common Cl-containing minerals (e.g. NaCl). A simplest explanation of Cl behavior during the FI was the fact that the advection during column experiments was too fast to allow equilibrium to be reached in the system.



Figure 4. Column percolation experiments on bottom ash. Left: solution concentrations of chloride (Cl) as a function of L/S ratio. Solid squares and circles represent leaching from columns without the flow interruption while open diamonds represent leaching from column with flow interruption at L/S 2 and 12 L kg⁻¹, respectively. Right: saturation index of barite as a function of time. Again, solid squares and circles represent leaching from columns without the flow interruption at L/S 2 and 12 L kg⁻¹, respectively. Right: saturation index of barite as a function of time. Again, solid squares and circles represent leaching from columns without the flow interruption at L/S 2 and 12 L kg⁻¹, respectively. Right: saturation index of barite as a function of time. Again, solid squares and circles represent leaching from columns without the flow interruption at L/S 2 and 12 L kg⁻¹, respectively. Right: saturation index of barite as a function of time. Again, solid squares and circles represent leaching from columns without the flow interruption at L/S 2 and 12 L kg⁻¹.

3.2.6 Influence of non-equilibrium on leaching from bottom ash columns

Presence of physical non-equilibrium in the bottom ash columns did not affect leaching of all elements in the same way. In order to provide a systematic overview three groups of elements (i.e. Group I – III) were identified based on their predominant behavior during the flow interruptions. For details refer to [**III**]; in addition, the most important findings are summarized in Table 4.

Generally, "satisfactory" level of information about the leaching of the availabilitycontrolled elements (Group I) was obtained as it is assumed that the non-equilibrium causes an overestimation (on concentration basis) in the leaching of soluble salts after $L/S \ 2 \ L \ kg^{-1}$ in the columns when compared with full-scale scenarios; this is however suitable from worst-case-scenario point of view. In other words, advection during column experiments was likely too fast to obtain equilibrium. Thus, if the same material with the same fraction of dual-porosity was assumed both in a slow full-scale system and a fast column system, the contribution of the diffusion-controlled mass from the stagnant zones to the total leached mass would be larger in the slower scenario, because there are no solubility limitations and the reaction period is longer. This is in agreement with generally observed "total" depletion of salts within L/S 2 L kg⁻¹ in full-scale scenarios [1;27;38;73]. Therefore, different shapes of leaching curves (i.e. different solution concentrations) may be expected in columns and full-scale scenarios, even though the total released mass may be similar in either case (i.e. the available fraction). Further, assuming that the same mass is released, solution concentrations should likely be higher during the initial leaching in full-scale scenarios. In other words, because advection is faster in the columns, the concentrations in the stagnant zone remained higher during the column experiments and the diffusion from the stagnant zones became the overall controlling process. Thus, after L/S 2 L kg⁻¹, the diffusion from the stagnant zone would still be of importance and leaching of Na, K, and Cl from the columns would be higher than in full-scale scenarios. Consequently, both "tailing" and an increase in the solution concentrations during the flow interruptions would be observed.

[111].			
Group	Ι	II	III
Elements	Na, Cl, K,	Ca, S, Ba, Si, Al, Zn	Ni, Cu, Mo, Pb
Leaching curve description – no FI ^a	Large concentration drop in initial period, often several orders of magnitude; tailing due to slow diffusion from stagnant zones (dual porosity)	Relatively steady leaching over long L/S periods	Large concentration drop in initial period, often several orders of magnitude
Leaching curve description – effect of FI in $C3^b$	An increase in solution concentrations by up to one order of magnitude	A slight changes in solution concentrations	An increase in solution concentrations by up to one order of magnitude, (except Pb)
Overall suggested leaching control	Fast dissolution of readily soluble compounds followed by depletion in the mobile zone; then diffusion from stagnant zone becomes the controlling process	Dissolution/precipitation of "common" minerals (could be affected by chemical non- equilibrium and /or changes in pH due to diffusion of OH ⁻)	Cu, Ni: complexation with DOC; Mo: apparently controlled by availability of MoO_4^{2-} in the mobile zone; Pb: solubility control
Effect of non- equilibrium on model prediction of solubility control minerals	Minimal, solubility control is usually not observed	Minimal, but FI could still be used to confirm some controlling phases	Minimal
Implications for leaching predictions	The test provides adequate information as it overestimates the concentrations; it could be used for direct assessment	Adequate information for solubility-based predictions is obtained; non-equilibrium could slightly alter the observed concentrations	Should not be used for direct assessment of Cu, Ni, and Mo. Transport of DOC in considered scenario must be described beforehand (Cu, Ni). Alternatively, dual- porosity models may be included in order to account for the physical non- equilibrium

Table 4. Element groups according to their leaching behavior during the column test. Source: [III].

^{*a*} Leaching experiments at "standard" flow velocity in C1 and C2; without the FI. ^{*b*} Leaching experiments at "standard" flow velocity in C3; FI at L/S 2 and L/S 12 L kg⁻¹, respectively. For the solubility-controlled elements grouped in Group II (i.e. Ca, S, Ba, Si, Al, and Zn) it was shown that regardless the non-equilibrium which in some cases caused up to 5 times higher observed solution concentrations associated with changes in SI (see Figure 4; right), the same controlling minerals were predicted (Figure 5) by geochemical modeling. Hence, a factor of 5 may arguably be the "sensitivity" of the SI-based input and leaching predictions of Ca, Si, S, Al, Ba, and Zn based on dissolution/precipitation of minerals may not be expected more accurate.



Figure 5. Concentrations of Ca, S, Si, Al, Ba, and Zn as a function of L/S. Points represent experimental data while solid lines represent model predicted equilibrium concentrations of relevant minerals calculated for C3 (interrupted). Dashed line in case of Ba represents model predicted equilibrium concentrations of relevant minerals calculated for C1 (non-interrupted). Abbreviations are: gyp, gypsum; str, strätlingite; monoS, monosulphate; bar, barite; ett, ettringite; gib, gibbsite; wil, willemite. Source: **[III]**.

The leaching of Cu and Ni (i.e. metals with high affinity for DOC complexation [20;22;51;74]) was shown to be correlated with the presumably diffusion-controlled release of DOC. Release of DOC was more pronounced during the flow interruptions and has caused a significant increase in solution concentrations of these metals (Figure 6). Accordingly, I assume that the release of Cu and Ni as obtained from column experiments does not reflect concentrations that would have been observed for the same material in a full-scale scenario. In fact, these solution concentrations are most likely underestimated up to one order of magnitude (see Figure 6). Consequently, it appears that using lab-scale data to predict full-scale long-term release of these metals in terms of solution concentrations (e.g. mg L⁻¹) at any given L/S ratio is not possible without a detailed knowledge of (non)equilibrium conditions in the tested system.

Similarly to Cu and Ni, the leaching of Mo was also found identical to that of Group I, i.e. an increase of solution concentrations was observed during both FI. However, the controlling mechanism is likely different as no evidence of Mo-DOC complexation was found in literature. Adsorption could also be excluded as Mo is present as MoO_4^{2-} at high pH [12;21;75]. Further, no Mo-containing minerals were found to explain observed solution concentrations of Mo in either standard or interrupted columns; eluates were found undersaturated towards powellite (CaMoO₄) by two orders of magnitude in standard columns and by one order of magnitude during both FI in C3. Apparently, release of MoO_4^{2-} was not limited by organic complexation, sorption or dissolution/precipitation but simply by its availability in mobile zones (compare release curve of Mo and Cl⁻ during FI), i.e. by diffusion of MoO_4^{2-} from stagnant zones during both FI.

In order to avoid large underestimations when using lab-scale data for the full-scale leaching assessment of Cu, Mo, and Ni it is imperative either to describe the time-dependent transport of DOC (in any tested system) or to minimize the physical non-equilibrium during column experiments by changing the set-up (e.g. bigger column, slower flow).

The leaching of Pb (not shown graphically) was somewhat elevated during the initial leaching period; i.e., 15 μ g L⁻¹. Both organic and inorganic complexation of Pb can be expected under high pH conditions [22]. After L/S 2 L kg⁻¹ the leaching of Pb was not affected by the FI, despite the increase in DOC concentration. On the contrary, the measured Pb solution concentrations were rather stable at 6 x 10⁻³ mg L⁻¹ while no common mineral has been found appropriate to explain the observed values. This would, indirectly, point to other controlling process, e.g. sorption on hydrous ferrous oxides (HFO) [11;76]. Sorption of HFO is very likely at pH > 10.5 determined in the columns [21]. Hence, the inorganic complexation before L/S 2 L/kg and a sorption on HFO after L/S 2 L/kg may be the controlling processes.

Note that the leaching of Cd from the columns was generally found below the ICP-AES detection limit of 5 x 10^{-5} mg L⁻¹. Low leaching of Cd at high pH is notoriously

observed for both bottom ashes and APC residues (see Figure 7). Usually, a surface complexation is suggested to be the major controlling process [11;12;77].



Figure 6. Left: concentrations of Cu, Mo, Ni, and DOC as a function of time in C3 (interrupted). Solid squares represent metal concentrations while open diamonds represent dissolved organic matter (DOC). Right: concentrations of Cu, Mo, and Ni as a function of DOC in C3 (interrupted). Data correlation is represented by a solid line. Source: **[III]**.

3.3 Leaching from MSWI residues

3.3.1 Characterization of leaching from the pH-static experiments

The first step in understanding leaching behavior of any element is obviously the characterization of its leaching control preferably using pH-dependent leaching data (i.e. pH-static batch test). Such characterization is relatively simple and widely used [19;51;53;61].

For further details refer to [I] and/or BOX 3; in general, the solution speciation of each batch is calculated and possible solubility controlling minerals are selected based on their saturation index (-2 < SI < 2) and the probability of appearance under the experimental conditions (Table 2). Next, the leachate composition in equilibrium with the selected minerals is calculated [61] so that the predicted and the measured data could be compared.

In [I], the CEN/TS pH-static test was used to obtain leaching data for Al, Ca, Mg, Si, S, Ba, Sr, Mo, Zn, Cd, Pb, Cu, Cl, and DOC from two APC residues (composition shown in Table 1). Subsequently, leaching data was modeled in ORCHESTRA code [65] incorporated in LeachXS user interface [66] in order to (i) specify possible solubility controlling minerals for those elements that are actually controlled by dissolution/precipitation and (ii) identify other possible controlling processes (i.e. complexation with DOC). Complexation with DOC was accounted for during the speciation calculations using generic Nica-Donnan parameters [78]. A summary of the results for both APC residues is given in Table 5.

The results shown in Table 5 were in good agreement with the outcomes of other studies which were performed on both bottom ashes and APC residues [12;19;20;51;55;61;62;67;79;80]. The release of many elements was apparently controlled by the solubility of the same minerals. Consequently, it was assumed that using a "generic" set of minerals may provide an adequate description of the pH-dependant leaching for any given residue. This would naturally reduce the necessity of performing expensive and time consuming material-specific pH-static leaching experiments.

Table 5. Overview of solubility controlling mineral phases and other leaching controlling processes. Source: [I].

Element	Solubility controlling minerals and other leaching controlling processes				
Al	gibbsite (Al[OH] ₃), wairakite (CaAl ₂ Si ₄ O ₁₂ ·2H ₂ O), monosulphate				
	$(Ca_4Al_2O_6[SO_4]\cdot 6H_2O)$				
Ca	gypsum (CaSO ₄ ·2H ₂ O)				
Mg	dolomite (CaMg[CO ₃] ₂), forsterite (Mg ₂ SiO ₄), magnesite (MgCO ₃)				
Si	akermanite (Ca ₂ MgSi ₂ O ₇), SiO ₂ , wairakite				
S	gypsum				
Ba	(Ba,Sr)SO ₄ , witherite (BaCO ₃)				
Sr	(Ba,Sr)SO ₄ , strontianite (SrCO ₃)				
Mo	powellite (CaMoO ₄), wulfenite (PbMoO ₄)				
Zn	zincite (ZnO)				
Cd	Cd(OH) ₂ , otavite (CdCO ₃)				
Pb	anglesite (PbSO ₄), Pb ₃ (VO ₄) ₂ , Pb ₂ (OH) ₃ Cl, DOC				
Cu	atacamite (Cu ₂ [OH] ₃ NO ₃), DOC, Cu(OH) ₂				

3.3.2 Modeling of pH-dependent leaching from APC residues

In order to validate the above assumption (i.e. a "generic" set of minerals may be used to provide a reasonable description of the pH-dependent leaching), a modeling exercise using the pH-static leaching data obtained for the SD residue (see Table 1 or **[I]**) was used for leaching description of Ba, Sr, Pb, Zn, Cr, Mo, Cu and Cd.

First, the solution speciation was calculated and possible solubility controlling minerals were selected based on their saturation index and probability of appearance under experimental conditions; this step is the same as described in Section 3.3.1. Accordingly, the minerals considered to be the controlling phases were: (Ba,Sr)SO₄ (50% Ba) solid solution strontianite (SrCO₃), laurionite (PbClOH), zincite (ZnO), PbCrO₄, powellite (CaMoO₄), wulfenite (PbMoO₄), atacamite (Cu₂Cl[OH]₃), otavite (CdCO₃), and Cd(OH)₂(s).

Next, the "available" fractions of all elements were entered in the model as described in BOX 3. In addition, material-specific amounts of DOC (i.e. the highest value from pH-static test) and HFO/AlO surfaces were included in the input. Amounts of HFO were obtained during an ascorbate extraction according to Kostka and Luther [81] while amounts of AlO were obtained during an oxalate extraction in dark as described by Blakemore[82]. Similarly to Dijkstra et al [77] I considered HFO and AlO to be equal in the model. Accordingly, the extracted amounts were added up assuming that 1 mol of Fe \sim 1 mol of Al [53;77] and recalculated to kg of HFO/kg of solid phase; a gram formula weight of 89 g HFO/mol Fe was used [21]. In the end the input

consisted of: the "available" amounts of elements, a list of controlling minerals, information about DOC levels, and amounts of reactive surfaces. During the calculation ORCHESTRA uses the "available" amount of a given element and calculates its concentration in solutions at different pH (2 < pH < 14 by default) while simultaneously accounting for all three major controlling processes (i.e. solubility control, DOC complexation, and HFO/AlO sorption); this way a competition is ensured.

The result of this modeling exercise are summarized in Hyks et al [83]. It can be seen (Figure 7) that one set of minerals provided rather adequate description of the leaching from two different materials (i.e. the SD- and the FA-residue), especially in the case of Ba, Sr, Zn, and Cd, despite the differences in solid composition (see Table 1). Hence, the pH-dependant leaching of Ba, Sr, Pb, Zn, Cr, Mo, Cu, and Cd from two different MSWI residues was adequately predicted using a combination of a "generic" set of minerals derived for one of the MSWI residues and material-specific amounts of HFO and DOC.

3.3.3 Possible application of generic set of minerals

Using the "generic" set of minerals could, to some extent, enable us to omit resourcesconsuming leaching experiments (i.e., at least 8 batch experiments) which are usually done for every material. Apparently, "a dataset containing the generic minerals, results of three batch tests (pH 4, pH 7-8, and pH 10) and amounts of HFO/AIO could provide the same quality of input information as 8-batch experimental set-up" [84].



Figure 7. Leaching of Ba, Sr, Pb, Zn, Cr, Mo, Cu and Cd as a function of pH. Experimental data are represented by solid and open points for SD- and FA-residue, respectively. Solid lines represent model predictions for the SD- while dashed lines represent model predictions for the FA-residue. Grey dashed lines for Pb and Cu represent model runs using $Pb(OH)_3Cl$ and $Cu(OH)_2(s)$ respectively. Source: Hyks et al [83].

3.3.4 Long-term percolation experiments on APC residues

As the next step of leaching characterization a series of extended column percolation experiments was performed on both APC residues [IV]. Leaching of Ca, Fe, Mg, K, Na, S, Al, As, Ba, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Hg, Mn, Ni, Pb, Zn, Mo, Sb, Si, Sn, Sr, Ti, V, P, Cl, and DOC was studied during 24 months of column percolation experiments; L/S 200-250 L/kg was reached. This L/S would correspond to more than 10,000 years in a conventional landfill [48]. Geochemical modeling in PHREEQC [64] was used (i) to predict the solubility controlling minerals, and (ii) to evaluate their role on both pH development and leaching of alkalinity, Ca, S, Al, Si, Ba, and Zn in a water-percolated system. A comprehensive discussion of the results is given in [IV].

Interestingly, the leaching of Cd, Fe, Mg, Hg, Mn, Ni, Co, Sn, Ti, and P from both materials was generally found below the associated detection limits (in mg/L): Cd (5 x 10^{-5}), Fe (2 x 10^{-2}), Mg (1.4), Hg (2 x 10^{-5}), Mn (9 x 10^{-4}), Ni (6 x 10^{-4}), Co (2 x 10^{-4}), Sn (5 x 10^{-4}), Ti (2 x 10^{-2}), and P (1 x 10^{-2}) respectively. Accordingly, their leached mass was negligible. For elements with measurable leachate concentrations the total released mass was calculated in MATLAB [85] using cumulative Simpson's integration with uneven spacing [86] and is shown in Table 6.

A typical availability-controlled leaching behavior was observed for Na, K, and Cl in both columns as the leaching of these elements was most likely controlled by the dissolution of readily soluble compounds such as halite (NaCl) and sylvite (KCl). Consequently, significant amounts of Na and K were removed during the course of the experiments. Chloride was removed to a lesser extent than expected (~ 50 %) possibly due to precipitation of Friedel's salt (3CaO·Al₂O₃·CaCl₂·10H₂O) which is known to form in cementious systems [87-89].

It can be seen in Table 6 that only a minor fraction of the total content of many elements leached during 24 months of percolation experiments. Despite the rather high initial concentrations and the late release in the leaching of some metals, about 97-99 % of the total content As, Cu, Cd, Pb, Zn, Cr, and Sb remained in the solid material after 2 years of column leaching.

Table 6. Element fractions (% of initial mass) leached during 24 months of the column experiments (i.e. L/S 245 L/kg for the SD-residue and L/S 207 L/kg the FA-residue) as calculated in MATLAB by cumulative Simpson's integration with uneven spacing. Source: [IV].

Element	FA	SD	Element	FA	SD
Na	~ 65	~ 103	Sr	~ 41	~ 71
Κ	~ 82	~ 115	Cr	< 1	< 1
Cl	~ 53	~ 64	Mo	~ 34	~ 38
Ca	~ 39	~ 68	Sb	~ 1	< 1
S	~ 104	~ 59	Cu	< 1	< 1
Si	< 1	< 1	Cd	< 1	< 1
Al	< 1	< 1	Pb	~ 1.6	~ 1.1
As	< 1	< 1	Zn	< 1	~ 3
Ba	~ 3.5	~ 24	V	~ 4.4	~ 3.7

Speciation calculations in PHREEQC suggested that the leaching of major elements (i.e. Ca, S, Al, and Si) was presumably controlled by the dissolution/precipitation of portlandite, gypsum, ettringite, diaspore, akermanite, and strätlingite, respectively. In addition, dissolution/precipitation in a portlandite-gypsum-ettringite system was shown to be the most important process with respect to development in both pH and alkalinity (discussed in next chapter).

Further, the removal of Ca and S due to the dissolution of portlandite and gypsum could cause increased dissolution of ettringite and strätlingite; this corresponded with the observed increase in Al and Si solution concentrations in late stage of the experiments. Dissolution of ettringite could, in turn, cause an increase in concentrations (Figure 8) of some metals especially those forming oxyanions (e.g. Sb, As, V, and Cr) which are suspected to substitute sulfate in the ettringite structure [56-58].



Figure 8. Solution concentrations of As, Cr, Sb, V, and Mo as function of L/S ratio. Leaching data for FA and SD are represented by open spheres and diamonds, respectively. Detection limits (DL) are indicated by wide grey dashed lines where appropriate. Leaching criteria for waste acceptable at landfills for inert, nonhazardous, and hazardous waste[4] are indicated by grey dashed-, black dashed- (nonhaz.), and combined black dashed lines, respectively. Source: [**IV**].

The leaching of Ba and Sr (Figure 9) was suggested to be controlled by the dissolution/precipitation of barite, Ba(Ca)SO₄ solid solution, Ba(S,Cr)O₄ solid solution, and Ba(Sr)SO₄ solid solution [70;90;91]. An interaction between barite and gypsum was also used to explain the observed leaching behavior of Ba in forward geochemical modeling; an adequate fit between modeled and experimental data was obtained. It can be mentioned that initial leaching of both elements from the SD-residue was significantly higher than from the FA-residue. In both cases these high values are comparable with the leaching of Ba and Sr in batch pH-static experiments [I]. Apparently, significant fraction of particularly Sr is "available" at natural pH of both residues; i.e. at pH > 11.

The leaching of Cu (Figure 9) resembled the wash-out of DOC which is commonly suggested to be the major process controlling Cu via complexation [52;55;67]. Similarly for both materials, leaching of Cu decreased rapidly during the initial leaching period and stayed around 1-6 μ g/L for the rest of the experiments. This concentration level could also be explained by solubility of Cu(OH)₂(s) which was suggested to control the leaching of Cu from APC residues at pH > 10 [I].



Figure 9. Solution concentrations of Ba, Sr, Cu, Pb, and Zn as function of L/S ratio. Leaching data for FA and SD are represented by open spheres and diamonds, respectively. Detection limits (DL) are indicated by wide grey dashed lines where appropriate. Leaching criteria for waste acceptable at landfills for inert and nonhazardous waste are indicated by short grey dashed lines and black dashed lines (nonhaz.), respectively. Source: [**IV**].

The high initial release of Pb (~ 3 mg/L) was almost level with the limits for hazardous waste [4]. Still, this is not uncommon in solutions with high levels of soluble salts as inorganic complexation might be of importance [35]. Overall, sorption to HFO/AlO [21;23] and/or substitution in ettringite structure [56] could explain the observed leaching behavior of Pb; for details refer to [**IV**]. The final leached amounts corresponded to only 1.6 % (FA) and 1.1 % (SD) of the total mass of Pb in the solid phase.

The leaching of Zn was similar for both residues and most likely controlled by dissolution/precipitation of zincite. This was further confirmed by forward geochemical modeling. The decrease in Zn concentrations at the late stage of percolation experiments could be caused by a simple change in the solubility of zincite as a function of pH.

3.3.5 Forward modeling of column leaching from APC residues

In addition to predictions of the solubility controlling minerals, a forward geochemical modeling for prediction of the long-term behavior of pH, alkalinity and major elements (Ca, S, Al, Si, Ba and Zn) in a water-percolated SD-column was applied **[IV]**. Again, all calculations were performed in PHREEQC.

Following the approach of Astrup et al [92], 1 kilogram of a hypothetical mineral assemblage which was composed of few controlling minerals for the above elements was created. The mineral assemblage would then be flushed with water to simulate column leaching. In total, 250 flushes (mass of water pushed in each flush equaled 1 L) would be performed corresponding to L/S 250 L/kg. However, there is no general approach to specify the exact amount of a particular mineral (e.g. portlandite) from the total mass of a specific element determined by sample digestion (e.g. Ca). Analytical techniques such as X-Ray diffraction may be used in this respect, but these techniques generally have a relatively high detection limit and quantitative data are often associated with significant uncertainties. A different approach had to be used for the determination of the amounts of the individual minerals in the modeling.

It was assumed that portlandite will likely determine the pH of the system and thus leaching of other elements. Therefore, in the first step, the amount of portlandite in the SD-column was derived to match the decrease in both Ca and alkalinity (for details refer to [**IV**]); 3 moles/kg were found appropriate. Similarly, the amount of gypsum was adapted to match the decrease in S; this time, about 0.2 moles kg⁻¹ were found appropriate. These amounts of Ca and S did not account for the entire solid mass (see Table 1); the residual mass was thus distributed between other possible solubility controlling minerals. Of course, the amounts of other constituents in the selected minerals had to be considered as well and the whole procedure was therefore an iteration process. In the end, 3 moles of portlandite, 0.2 moles of gypsum, 2.6 moles of calcite, 0.35 moles of ettringite, 0.022 moles of akermanite, 0.005 moles of barite, and 0.14 moles of zincite formed the mineral assemblage. All these minerals are commonly

identified in APC residues (see Table 2). Compared with the total mass of Ca, S, Al, Si, Ba, and Zn in the SD-residue this accounted for 96 % of Ca, 116 % of S, 103 % of Al, 2 % of Si, 110 % of Ba, and 101 % of Zn respectively. The mineralogy of APC residues is unquestionably much more complicated. However, for a first approximation this assemblage was found to be sufficient.

During the percolation, portlandite was allowed to equilibrate with the solution whereas, in agreement with the speciation calculations performed for the early eluates, gypsum, calcite and ettringite were kept slightly oversaturated. Furthermore, monosulphate and diaspore which were not considered in the initial assemblage were allowed to precipitate if needed. Both phases were suggested by the speciation calculations at later L/S ratios; in addition, monosulphate has been reported to form from ettringite at low sulfate concentrations [56].

It can be seen (Figure 10) that adequate fit between modeled and measured data was obtained for pH and alkalinity; decrease in either was predicted well. Further, excellent model predictions were obtained for Ca, S, Ba and Zn while the leaching of Al and Si was predicted within one order of a magnitude.



Figure 10. Long-term development in pH, alkalinity (Figure A) Ca, S, Ba (Figure B), Al, Si, and Zn (Figure C) as a function of L/S ratio. As outlined in legend points refer to laboratory experiments (SD residue) while associated lines represent model predictions. Source: [IV].

It should be emphasized that these predictions were accomplished using a rather "simple" set of minerals suggested for controlling the release and that the modeled L/S ratio would correspond to over 10,000 years in a typical landfill. The modeling exercise, results of which are shown in Figure 5, was therefore an extreme simplification of the leaching system. Moreover, with limited information of the physical properties of the columns (i.e. dual-porosity fraction, preferential flows, etc.) the percolation was set-up using default parameters in PHREEQC (i.e. assuming equilibrium) and no parameter fitting was used. Notably, about 20-40 % of mass initially present in the columns was removed within L/S 2 L/kg (primarily easily soluble elements like Na, K, Cl, Ca, and S). Such a removal of solids will indeed influence flow conditions in the column (increase in porosity, dynamic changes in dual-porosity, structure collapse) thereby likely affecting leaching of many elements. None of these issues were considered in our modeling exercise.

Nevertheless, in spite of being a simplified system, the modeling provided useful insight. Most importantly, the interaction between portlandite, gypsum and ettringite was shown crucial as these minerals influenced both pH and the leaching of major elements (i.e. Ca and S), which in turn had an impact on the leaching of the remaining elements (e.g. oxyanions). Unaccounted late release of oxyanions may present a significant environmental threat.

Calcite played a limited role at pH > 10.5 in the portlandite-gypsum-ettringite governed system. Similarly, the initial pH of the eluent (i.e. pH of distilled water before entering the columns) had only a negligible effect due to the huge acid-neutralization-capacity of the residues [92;93].

4 Conclusions

Finally, an overview of the major conclusions drawn from this work is given in comparison with goals stated in Introduction:

- *i)* Investigate the influence of sample handling on results of laboratory leaching experiments
- Drying of materials prior to batch leaching experiments can induce changes in material properties (e.g. its reduction capacity) thereby significantly affecting the leaching of some elements, Cr in particular. This could cause a significant overestimation of Cr leaching when the results of such test are used for compliance purposes.
- Removal of soluble salts prior to pH-static batch leaching experiments does not improve the model predictions with respect to the identification of solubility controlling minerals; however, it can indicate "easily removable" fractions of other elements (e.g. Sr and Pb).
- *ii)* Evaluate the effects of non-equilibrium conditions on the results of percolation experiments
- Significant differences regarding leaching behavior of different elements with respect to (non)equilibrium conditions in the column percolation experiments were observed. As a result, three groups of elements were proposed based on their predominant leaching control and the influence of (non)equilibrium on the results of laboratory column experiments:
 - I. Predominantly availability-controlled elements (e.g. Na, K, Cl)
 - II. Solubility-controlled elements (e.g. Ca, S, Si, Al, Ba, and Zn)
 - III. Complexation-controlled elements (e.g. Cu and Ni)
- With respect to the above groups it was suggested that results from laboratory column experiments can, with consideration, be used to estimate full-scale leaching of elements from Group I and II.
- Because of the impact of physical non-equilibrium on the release of DOC, the leaching of Cu and Ni (Group III) in column experiments does not reflect leaching which is likely to occur for the same material in a full-scale scenario. In fact, their solution concentrations are most likely underestimated by up to one order of magnitude (Figure 6). Consequently, it appears that using the lab-scale data to predict full-scale long-term release of these metals in terms of solution

concentrations (e.g. mg L^{-1}) is not possible without a detailed knowledge of the (non)equilibrium conditions in the tested system. Thus, in order to avoid large underestimation in assessment of leaching from Group III it is imperative to describe the time-dependent transport of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) in any tested system or to minimize the physical non-equilibrium during laboratory experiments by changing the set-up (e.g. bigger column, slower flow).

- *iii)* Describe the long-term leaching behavior of various MSWI residues by means of laboratory experiments and geochemical modeling.
- Only a minor fraction of many potential pollutants (e.g. heavy metals) present in MSWI residues have been shown leachable even during long-term percolation experiments (L/S 250 L kg⁻¹ ≈ 10,000 years in typical landfill); less than 1% of initially present As, Cr, Sb, Cu, Cd, and Pb has leached.
- The leaching of Ca, S, Al, Si, Ba, and Zn in the semi-dry APC residue was likely controlled by the dissolution/precipitation of portlandite, gypsum, ettringite, diaspore, akermanite, monosulphate, strätlingite, barite and zincite. This was both suggested by speciation calculations and confirmed by forward geochemical modeling over L/S ratio of 250 L/kg.
- The removal of Ca and S due to the dissolution of portlandite and gypsum could cause increased dissolution of ettringite and strätlingite. Dissolution of ettringite could, in turn, cause a late increase in the concentrations of elements which are suspected to substitute sulfate in the ettringite structure; e.g. Sb, As, V, and Cr.

In addition to the above conclusions it should be explicitly noted that the leaching of Cd monitored in the columns (both with bottom ashes and APC residues) was generally found below the IPC-AES detection limit; i.e. $5 \times 10^{-5} \text{ mg L}^{-1}$. Consequently, a very little fraction (< 1%) of the initially present Cd has leached even during fairly long leaching experiments. Note that low leaching of Cd at high pH is notoriously observed for both bottom ashes and APC residues (see Figure 7). Usually, a surface complexation is suggested to be the major controlling process.

Finally, it was shown in Chapter 3.3.2 that using a dataset that contains the generic minerals, the results of three batch tests (pH 4, pH 7-8, and pH 10) and the amounts of HFO/AIO could provide the same quality of input information for the geochemical modeling of the pH-dependent leaching as the 8-batch experimental set-up. Hence, a few of the resources-consuming pH-static experiments can be omitted.

5 Future work

Based on the level of knowledge that has been obtained from this research I would take the liberty of pointing out several objectives for future work:

Most importantly, the long-term environmental impacts from leaching of pollutants from MSWI residues should definitely be related to the "leaching-available" fraction of those pollutants rather then to the total pollutant content in solids. It was shown that leaching of many potential pollutants was almost negligible and that up to 99% of the initially present mass of some pollutants remained in the solids even after fairly long leaching experiments.

The "leaching-available" fraction is without doubt the most crucial yet often missing input parameter for today's geochemical models that are basically build in order to distribute this "available" amount over studied leaching period (e.g. percolation scenario) while simultaneously accounting for various controlling processes. So far, there is no general approach to classify the "leaching-available" fraction of various contaminants in different types of residues and hence further research should be pointed towards solving this issue.

With respect to the abovementioned issue, I truly believe that it is possible to suggest a simplified approach for assessing the long-term leaching availability from any MWSI residue based on the L/S 2 L kg⁻¹ batch experiments and the long-term column experiments performed in this study. Of course, it should not be expected that this will provide detailed information about solution concentrations. However, information about released mass (in mg kg⁻¹) over some pre-defined leaching periods could be obtained (i.e. leaching available mass). This would indeed be sufficient as an input for forward geochemical modeling as well as for direct LC(I)A of MSWI residues.

Secondly, unlike other researchers I am rather skeptical towards using the results from laboratory column experiments for the long-term leaching predictions of DOC-dependent metals without actually having a time-dependent leaching description for DOC release in various materials/scenarios. Such a model for DOC behavior implemented into current geochemical models would indeed provide better a description of long-term leaching of for ex. Cu, Ni, and Mo.

6 Bibliography

- Chandler AJ, Eighmy TT, Hartlem J, Hjelmar O, Kosson DS, Sawell SE, van der Sloot HA, Verlow J. Municipal solid waste incinerator residues. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science; 1997.
- [2] Miljøstyrelsen. Affaldsstatistik 2004: Orientering fra Miljøstyrelsen Nr.7 (Waste statictics 2004). In. Miljøstyrelsen; 2005.
- [3] EC. Council Directive 99/31/EC of 26 April 1999 on the landfill of waste. In. European Union, Brussels; 1999.
- [4] EC. Council Decision of 19 December 2002 establishing criteria and procedures for acceptance of waste at landfills pursuant to Article 16 and Annex II to Directive 1999/31/EC. In. European Union, Brussels; 2002.
- [5] Doka G, Hischier R. Waste treatment and assessment of long-term emissions. International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment 2005; 10: 77-84.
- [6] Kirkeby JT, Birgisdottir H, Bhander GS, Hauschild M, Christensen TH. Modelling of environmental impacts of solid waste landfilling within the lifecycle analysis program EASEWASTE. Waste Management 2007; 27: 961-970.
- [7] Kirkeby JT, Birgisdottir H, Hansen TL, Christensen TH, Bhander GS, Hauschild M. Environmental assessment of solid waste systems and technologies: EASEWASTE. Waste Management & Research 2006; 24: 3-15.
- [8] Birgisdottir H, Bhander G, Hauschild MZ, Christensen TH. Life cycle assessment of disposal of residues from municipal solid waste incineration: Recycling of bottom a sh in road construction or landfilling in Denmark evaluated in the ROAD-RES model. Waste Management 2007; 27: S75-S84.
- [9] Christensen TH, Bhander G, Lindvall H, Larsen AW, Fruergaard T, Damgaard A, Manfredi S, Boldrin A, Riber C, Hauschild M. Experience with the use of LCA-modelling (EASEWASTE) in waste management. Waste Management & Research 2007; 25: 257-262.
- [10] Gardner KH, Theis TL, Iyer R. An experimental and analytical approach to understanding the dynamic leaching from municipal solid waste combustion residue. Environmental Engineering Science 2002; 19: 89-100.
- [11] Dijkstra JJ, van der Sloot HA, Comans RNJ. Process identification and model development of contaminant transport in MSWI bottom ash. Waste Management 2002; 22: 531-541.
- [12] Dijkstra JJ, van der Sloot HA, Comans RNJ. The leaching of major and trace elements from MSWI bottom ash as a function of pH and time. Applied Geochemistry 2006; 21: 335-351.

- [13] Cai ZS, Chen DZ, Lundtorp K, Christensen TH. Evidence of Al-Cr interactions affecting Cr-leaching from waste incineration ashes. Waste Management 2003; 23: 89-95.
- [14] Astrup T, Rosenblad C, Trapp S, Christensen TH. Chromium release from waste incineration air-pollution-control residues. Environmental Science & Technology 2005; 39: 3321-3329.
- [15] Hjelmar O. Disposal strategies for municipal solid waste incineration residues. Journal of Hazardous Materials 1996; 47: 345-368.
- [16] Hjelmar O, Holm J, Crillesen K. Utilisation of MSWI bottom ash as sub-base in road construction: First results from a large-scale test site. Journal of Hazardous Materials 2007; 139: 471-480.
- [17] CEN. Leaching behaviour tests influence of pH on leaching with continuous pH-control. CEN/TC 14497; 2006.
- [18] CEN. Compliance test for leaching of granular waste materials and sludges -Part 1: one stage batch test at a liquid to solid ratio of 2 l/kg with particle size below 4 mm (without or with size reduction). CEN/TS 12457-1; 1999.
- [19] Meima JA, Comans RNJ. Geochemical modeling of weathering reactions in municipal solid waste incinerator bottom ash. Environmental Science & Technology 1997; 31: 1269-1276.
- [20] Johnson CA, Kersten M, Ziegler F, Moor HC. Leaching behaviour and solubility - Controlling solid phases of heavy metals in municipal solid waste incinerator ash. Waste Management 1996; 16: 129-134.
- [21] Dzombak DA, Morel FMM. Surface complexation modeling: hydrous ferric oxides. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York; 1990.
- [22] Stumm W, Morgan JJ. Aquatic Chemistry, 3rd ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 1996.
- [23] Dijkstra JJ. Development of a consistent geochemical modelling approach for leaching and reactive transport processes in contaminated materials.Wageningen University, The Netherlands; 2007. Ph.D. thesis.
- [24] Chang FY, Wey MY. Comparison of the characteristics of bottom and fly ashes generated from various incineration processes. Journal of Hazardous Materials 2006; 138: 594-603.
- [25] van der Sloot HA, Kosson DS, Hjelmar O. Characteristics, treatment and utilization of residues from municipal waste incineration. Waste Management 2001; 21: 753-765.
- [26] Johnson CA, Kaeppeli M, Brandenberger S, Ulrich A, Baumann W. Hydrological and geochemical factors affecting leachate composition in

municipal solid waste incinerator bottom ash Part II. The geochemistry of leachate from Landfill Lostorf, Switzerland. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology 1999; 40: 239-259.

- [27] Kosson DS, vanderSloot HA, Eighmy TT. An approach for estimation of contaminant release during utilization and disposal of municipal waste combustion residues. Journal of Hazardous Materials 1996; 47: 43-75.
- [28] EC. Council Directive 91/689/EEC of 12 December 1991 on hazardous waste. In. European Union, Brussels; 1991.
- [29] Astrup T, Crillesen K, Bojsen K. Management of APC residues from W-T-E plants. In. draft for ISWA; 2007.
- [30] Eusden JD, Eighmy TT, Hockert K, Holland E, Marsella K. Petrogenesis of municipal solid waste combustion bottom ash. Applied Geochemistry 1999; 14: 1073-1091.
- [31] Freyssinet P, Piantone P, Azaroual M, Itard Y, Clozel-Leloup B, Guyonnet D, Baubron JC. Chemical changes and leachate mass balance of municipal solid waste bottom ash submitted to weathering. Waste Management 2002; 22: 159-172.
- [32] Krzanowski JE, Eighmy TT, Crannell BS, Eusden JD. An analytical electron microscopy investigation of municipal solid waste incineration bottom ash. Journal of Materials Research 1998; 13: 28-36.
- [33] Zevenbergen C, Vanderwood T, Bradley JP, Vanderbroeck PFCW, Orbons AJ, Vanreeuwijk LP. Morphological and Chemical-Properties of Mswi Bottom Ash with Respect to the Glassy Constituents. Hazardous Waste & Hazardous Materials 1994; 11: 371-383.
- [34] Saikia N, Kato S, Kojima T. Compositions and leaching behaviours of combustion residues. Fuel 2006; 85: 264-271.
- [35] Geysen D. Immobilisation of Heavy Metals in Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator Flue Gas Cleaning Residues. K.U. Leuven; 2004. Ph.D.thesis.
- [36] Astrup T. Characterization of Leaching from Waste Incineration Air-Pollution-Control Residues. Environment & Resources, Technical University of Denmark; 2004. Ph.D. thesis.
- [37] Kirby CS, Rimstidt JD. Mineralogy and Surface-Properties of Municipal Solid-Waste Ash. Environmental Science & Technology 1993; 27: 652-660.
- [38] Kirby CS, Rimstidt JD. Interaction of Municipal Solid-Waste Ash with Water. Environmental Science & Technology 1994; 28: 443-451.
- [39] Eighmy TT, Eusden JD, Krzanowski JE, Domingo DS, Stampfli D, Martin JR, Erickson PM. Comprehensive Approach Toward Understanding Element

Speciation and Leaching Behavior in Municipal Solid-Waste Incineration Electrostatic Precipitator Ash. Environmental Science & Technology 1995; 29: 629-646.

- [40] Le Forestier L, Libourel G. Characterization of flue gas residues from municipal solid waste combustors. Environmental Science & Technology 1998; 32: 2250-2256.
- [41] Li M, Xiang J, Hu S, Sun LS, Su S, Li PS, Sun XX. Characterization of solid residues from municipal solid waste incinerator. Fuel 2004; 83: 1397-1405.
- [42] Fermo P, Cariati F, Pozzi A, Demartin F, Tettamanti M, Collina E, Lasagni M, Pitea D, Puglisi O, Russo U. The analytical characterization of municipal solid waste incinerator fly ash: methods and preliminary results. Fresenius Journal of Analytical Chemistry 1999; 365: 666-673.
- [43] Fermo P, Cariati F, Pozzi A, Tettamanti M, Collina E, Pitea D. Analytical characterization of municipal solid waste incinerator fly ash Part II. Fresenius Journal of Analytical Chemistry 2000; 366: 267-272.
- [44] Van Herck P, Van der Bruggen B, Vogels G, Vandecasteele C. Application of computer modelling to predict the leaching behaviour of heavy metals from MSWI fly ash and comparison with a sequential extraction method. Waste Management 2000; 20: 203-210.
- [45] Schuwirth N, Hofmann T. Comparability of and alternatives to leaching tests for the assessment of the emission of inorganic soil contamination. Journal of Soils and Sediments 2006; 6: 102-112.
- [46] van der Sloot HA. Quick techniques for evaluating the leaching properties of waste materials: their relation to decisions on utilization and disposal. Trac-Trends in Analytical Chemistry 1998; 17: 298-310.
- [47] CEN. Characterisation of waste Leaching behaviour tests Up-flow percolation test (under specified conditions). CEN/TS 14405; 2004.
- [48] Hjelmar O. Leachate from Land Disposal of Coal Fly-Ash. Waste Management & Research 1990; 8: 429-449.
- [49] Mizutani S, Yoshida T, Sakai S, Takatsuki H. Release of metals from MSW I fly ash and availability in alkali condition. Waste Management 1996; 16: 537-544.
- [50] Barna R, Sanchez F, Moszkowicz P, Mehu J. Leaching behavior of pollutants in stabilized/solidified wastes. Journal of Hazardous Materials 1997; 52: 287-310.
- [51] Kersten M, Moor HC, Johnson CA. Speciation of trace metals in leachate from a MSWI bottom ash landfill. Applied Geochemistry 1997; 12: 675-683.

- [52] Meima JA, Van Zomeren A, Comans RNJ. Complexation of Cu with dissolved organic carbon in municipal solid waste incinerator bottom ash leachates. Environmental Science & Technology 1999; 33: 1424-1429.
- [53] Meima JA, Comans RNJ. Application of surface complexation precipitation modeling to contaminant leaching from weathered municipal solid waste incinerator bottom ash. Environmental Science & Technology 1998; 32: 688-693.
- [54] Astrup T, Mosbaek H, Christensen TH. Assessment of long-term leaching from waste incineration air-pollution-control residues. Waste Management 2006; 26: 803-814.
- [55] Van Zomeren A, Comans RNJ. Contribution of natural organic matter to copper leaching from municipal solid waste incinerator bottom ash. Environmental Science & Technology 2004; 38: 3927-3932.
- [56] Gougar MLD, Scheetz BE, Roy DM. Ettringite and C-S-H Portland cement phases for waste ion immobilization: A review. Waste Management 1996; 16: 295-303.
- [57] Zhang M, Reardon EJ. Removal of B, Cr, Mo, and Se from wastewater by incorporation into hydrocalumite and ettringite. Environmental Science & Technology 2003; 37: 2947-2952.
- [58] Saikia N, Kato S, Kojima T. Behavior of B, Cr, Se, As, Pb, Cd, and Mo present in waste leachates generated from combustion residues during the formation of ettringite. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 2006; 25: 1710-1719.
- [59] Perkins RB, Palmer CD. Solubility of Ca-6[Al(OH)(6)](2)(CrO4)(3).26H(2)O, the chromate analog of ettringite; 5-75 degrees C. Applied Geochemistry 2000; 15: 1203-1218.
- [60] Perkins RB, Palmer CD. Solubility of chromate hydrocalumite (3CaO.Al2O3.CaCrO4.nH(2)O) 5-75 degrees C. Cement and Concrete Research 2001; 31: 983-992.
- [61] Astrup T, Dijkstra JJ, Comans RNJ, van der Sloot HA, Christensen TH. Geochemical modeling of leaching from MSWI air-pollution-control residues. Environmental Science & Technology 2006; 40: 3551-3557.
- [62] Baur I, Ludwig C, Johnson CA. The leaching behavior of cement stabilized air pollution control residues: A comparison of field and laboratory investigations. Environmental Science & Technology 2001; 35: 2817-2822.
- [63] Ludwig C, Johnson CA, Kappeli M, Ulrich A, Riediker S. Hydrological and geochemical factors controlling the leaching of cemented MSWI air pollution control residues: A lysimeter field study. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology 2000; 42: 253-272.

- [64] Parkhurst DL, Appelo CAJ. User's guide to PHREEQC (Version 2) a computer program for speciation, batch-reaction, one-dimensional transport, and inverse geochemical calculations. U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 99-4259, 312 p.; 1999.
- [65] Meeussen JCL. ORCHESTRA: An object-oriented framework for implementing chemical equilibrium models. Environmental Science & Technology 2003; 37: 1175-1182.
- [66] van der Sloot HA, Seignette P, Comans RNJ, Van Zomeren A, Dijkstra JJ, Meeussen JCL, Kosson DS, Hjelmar O. Evaluation of environmental aspects of alternative materials using an integrated approach assisted by a database/expert system. In 2003.
- [67] Dijkstra JJ, Van Zomeren A, Meeussen JCL, Comans RNJ. Effect of accelerated aging of MSWI bottom ash on the leaching mechanisms of copper and molybdenum. Environmental Science & Technology 2006; 40: 4481-4487.
- [68] van der Sloot HA, Meeussen JCL, Van Zomeren A, Kosson DS. Developments in the characterisation of waste materials for environmental impact assessment purposes. Journal of Geochemical Exploration 2006; 88: 72-76.
- [69] Brusseau ML, Hu QH, Srivastava R. Using flow interruption to identify factors causing nonideal contaminant transport. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology 1997; 24: 205-219.
- [70] Felmy AR, Rai D, Moore DA. The Solubility of (Ba,Sr)So4 Precipitates -Thermodynamic-Equilibrium and Reaction-Path Analysis. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 1993; 57: 4345-4363.
- [71] Brusseau ML, Rao PSC, Jessup RE, Davidson JM. Flow interruption: A method for investigating sorption nonequilibrium. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology 1989; 4: 223-240.
- [72] Appelo CAJ, Postma D. Geochemistry, Groundwater and Pollution. Rotterdam: A.A.Balkema; 1994.
- [73] Belevi H, Stampfli DM, Baccini P. Chemical Behavior of Municipal Solid-Waste Incinerator Bottom Ash in Monofills. Waste Management & Research 1992; 10: 153-167.
- [74] Christensen JB, Botma JJ, Christensen TH. Complexation of Cu and Pb by DOC in polluted groundwater: A comparison of experimental data and predictions by computer speciation models (WHAM and MINTEQA2). Water Research 1999; 33: 3231-3238.
- [75] Goldberg S, Lesch SM, Suarez DL. Predicting molybdenum adsorption by soils using soil chemical. parameters in the constant capacitance model. Soil Science Society of America Journal 2002; 66: 1836-1842.

- [76] Hyks J, Astrup T, Christensen TH. Influence of test conditions on solubility controlled leaching predictions from air-pollution-control residues. Waste Management & Research 2007; 25: 457-466.
- [77] Dijkstra JJ, Meeussen JCL, Comans RNJ. Leaching of heavy metals from contaminated soils: An experimental and modeling study. Environmental Science & Technology 2004; 38: 4390-4395.
- [78] Milne CJ, Kinniburgh DG, Van Riemsdijk WH, Tipping E. Generic NICA-Donnan model parameters for metal-ion binding by humic substances. Environmental Science & Technology 2003; 37: 958-971.
- [79] Cornelis G, Van Gerven T, Vandecasteele C. Antimony leaching from uncarbonated and carbonated MSWI bottom ash. Journal of Hazardous Materials 2006; 137: 1284-1292.
- [80] Geysen D, Vandecasteele C, Jaspers M, Brouwers E, Wauters G. Effect of improving flue gas cleaning on characteristics and immobilisation of APC residues from MSW incineration. Journal of Hazardous Materials 2006; 128: 27-38.
- [81] Kostka JE, Luther GW. Partitioning and Speciation of Solid-Phase Iron in Salt-Marsh Sediments. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 1994; 58: 1701-1710.
- [82] Blakemore LC, Searle PL, Daly BK. Methods for chemical analysis of soils. In. Science Report 80: NZ Soil Bureau: Lower Hutt, New Zealand; 1987.
- [83] Hyks J, Astrup T, Christensen TH. Prediction of leaching from air-pollutioncontrol residues. In 2007; Italy.
- [84] van der Sloot HA, Van Zomeren A. Personal communication 2007.
- [85] MathWorks. MATLAB. In. 2006.
- [86] Hanselman DC, Littlefield BL. Mastering Matlab 7. Prentice Hall, USA; 2004.
- [87] Shimaoka T, Naruoka T, Etoh J, Nakayama H. Innovative dechlorination from Municipal Solid Waste Incineration residues. In 2007.
- [88] Suryavanshi AK, Swamy RN. Stability of Friedel's salt in carbonated concrete structural elements. Cement and Concrete Research 1996; 26: 729-741.
- [89] Bothe JV, Brown PW. PhreeqC modeling of Friedel's salt equilibria at 23 +/- 1 degrees C. Cement and Concrete Research 2004; 34: 1057-1063.
- [90] Eary LE, Rai D, Mattigod SV, Ainsworth CC. Geochemical factors controlling the mobilization of inorganic constituents from fosil-fuel combustion residues 2: Review of the minor elements. In, 19 ed. 1990: 202-214.

- [91] Fallman AM. Leaching of chromium and barium from steel slag in laboratory and field tests a solubility controlled process? Waste Management 2000; 20: 149-154.
- [92] Astrup T, Jakobsen R, Christensen TH, Hansen JB, Hjelmar O. Assessment of long-term pH developments in leachate from waste incineration residues. Waste Management & Research 2006; 24: 491-502.
- [93] Li LY, Ohtsubo M, Higashi T, Yamaoka S, Morishita T. Leachability of municipal solid waste ashes in simulated landfill conditions. Waste Management 2007; 27: 932-945.

7 Appendixes

- I. Hyks, J.; Astrup, T. & Christensen, T.H. Influence of test conditions on solubility controlled leaching predictions from air-pollution-control residues. *Waste Management & Research 2007, 25 (5), p. 457-466.*
- II. Hu, Y.; Hyks, J.; Astrup, T. & Christensen, T.H. Effect of drying on leaching testing of treated municipal solid waste incineration APC-residues. Accepted in Waste Management & Research 2008.
- III. Hyks, J.; Astrup, T. & Christensen, T.H. Leaching from MSWI bottom ash: Effects of non-equilibrium during column experiments. Submitted to Waste Management.
- IV. Hyks, J.; Astrup, T. & Christensen, T.H. Long-term leaching from MSWI airpollution-control residues. *Submitted to Journal of Hazardous Materials*.

The appendixes are not included in this www-version but may be obtained from the Library at the Department of Environmental Engineering, Bygningstorvet, Building 115, Technical University of Denmark, DK-2800 Kgs. Lyngby (library@env.dtu.dk)



Department of Environmental Engineering Technical University of Denmark Bygningstorvet, Building 115 DK-2800 Kgs. Lyngby

Phone: +45 4525 1600 Fax: +45 4593 2850 e-mail: reception@env.dtu.dk

Please visit our website www.env.dtu.dk

ISBN 978-87-91855-48-1